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Can you tell me lihere you were born and when? 

I was born in 1940 (?) in Port Elizabet h - I was born in 194o in Port 
Elizabeth. 

And what part of P.E. ? 

New Brighton - I was born in New Brighton. 

When you were born there was i t only for Africans or '~as i t all people 
t here? 

When I was born was it? 

Was it for Africans only or was it like Sophiat olm - l~as i t a bit mixed 
or was it always just an African area? 

It was non- white . 

So it had Coloured and Indians? 

There were Coloureds there were not many - not - there were no Indians 
t here were Coloureds and Africans , but t here '~ere no whites . 

And what were your parents ' politics like - did you grow up in a house 
that had politics or • •• • 

Which is exactly what I usually tell people , you see , that I didn ' t join 
the ANC - I never joined the ANC - I l~as born into it - my father was 
a member of the ANC -I understand he had joined in the late ' 20s - in 
fact he joined in 1928 , the year when he - he l~as meant to - to marry , 
but it didn ' t come off that year in fact - he went to get married in 
1930 , but he had already joined the ANC - we grew up in Port Elizabeth, 
a lot of us at home , ten - five , five - five girls , five boys - I ' m 
third born but I ' m the first son - father was not educated, just a 
S t andard Four guy - mother was old teacher, Standard Six teacher - she 
didn 't teach for many - for - for a long time - she taught just for 
about three years, and she got married and she - she stopped teaching -
she became full time housewife, I can put it that way. 

I went to schools in Port Elizabeth - well , all of us we went t o school 
in Port Elizabeth - ended up at Newell High School - it ' s in New Bright ­
on , Jolobe Street - at the time I was in Newell High the principal was 
G. B. Molife , a social democrat - not act ually a social democrat , a bit 
reactionary old man. 

What did your dad do what work did he do? 

My father was a driver - he worked for L . Barris and Sons - he had 
joined the firm in Johannesburg - he ran away from the mines - there 
was a s t rike of some sort in 1922 in Johannesburg and they were beaten 
up, so he ran away from the mines - he went to the t olmships in Johann­
esburg and the following day he start ed looking for employment and he 
collided with somebody liho ( ?) was opening up a shop in Johannesburg , 
this L - Louis Barris was opening up this shop and he was employed -
that was in 1922, I think - yes , 1922 - and then in 1936 they t rans ­
ferred to Port Elizabeth , where L . Barris had bought - well , he went 
t o open up a wholesale business . 
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My father went to die in 1972, having worked for 50 years for L. Barris , 
but at the time my father died I was no longer in Sout h Africa, I - I 
was out - in fact when he died I was in prison. 

When he when you were growing up - you said you were born into the 
ANC - what was this ANC you were born into at the time - was it some­
thing that you sa'\-r as a really militant organisation - if you were 
born in 1940, by the time you were getting aware of things in the ' 50s, 
did the ANC - did he talk about what the ANC had been like when he was 
in it -you said he ' d been in it in the ' 20s - there was a time when 
the ANC '\-ras thought to be a bit of a gentlemen ' s organisation - there 
was the critique that it needed the youth league to build it up again , 
but did you always have the idea that the ANC was powerful or did you 
ever - did any other people who weren ' t ANC families say : Why ' s your 
father been in t he organisation - or - just to take it back - I won ' t 
ask you about the ' 50s , but just to take it back to growing up in t he 
ANC , because that ' s something unusual- that ' s something that I haven ' t 
had that many people I could ask about - '\-rhat was that ANC that your 
father told you he joined? 

Well , about my father talking about the ANC , there was not much of 
that - my father didn ' t talk much at home - he did now (?) well , occ ­
asionally, you kilO'\-r , but no t very much - the thing is this, my fat her 
was active and so I - '\-rell , myself and my sisters would be sent about 
delivering messages , you know, running ANC ( ••••• • •• )that were sent 
by my father , letters , and then we would participate in pamphlet dis­
tribution , leaflet - leaflet distribution - but I actually, off my own 
now, with my - of my own volition actually became highly involved in 
1952 , but in 1952 I was 12 years old - I was still very young - that 
was at the time of the defiance campaign - we wanted to go and defy 
as well, but then of course we were not allowed by well , the official­
dom of the ANC at the time. 

My father didn ' t - well , we had asked my father ' s permission for it 
he - he - he said he didn ' t deal with that , so we had to go to the 
chairman of the branch - a t t he time I think it was somebody called 
Nkosi Nkulu - and at that t ime again Caleb Mayekiso was either a tre­
asurer - you see, I ' m slightly mistaken as to the actual positions 
they held at the time - Mayekiso, Nkosi Nkulu and my father were active 
prominent, you see , so my father said he didn ' t deal with that part of 
it, so we had to go and ask Nkosi Nkulu. 

We went to Nkosi Nkulu - Nkosi Nkulu pushed us to somebody else - we 
went to that one - eventually I ended up at Raymond Hhlaba ' s house -
then he told me that no , he couldn ' t allow that because we were very , 
very young, so the '\-rhole problem was solved by simply giving us t ins 
to go about collecting money in aid of - the money was going to be used 
to support and maintain the families of the people '-rho had gone to def'y. 

With the defiance campaign , well , you should remember that there was 
no - there was no defence briefed (?) employed- there was no -no fines 
paid, no bails - they were simply sentenced and they went to prison -
that was the basis of the thing was that they should go to prison for 
having defied unjust la'\-rs in South Africa - so '\-re ended up collecting 
money and '\-re ended up distributing leaflets, but the joy of it for me 
at the time was that Mandela came down to Port Elizabeth, and lat er on -
that was in 1953 when he was - it '-ras Handela and I think Alton Ngwenje­
I think - Alton , yes - Alton Ngwenje , who eventually was banished t o 
to the Transvaal - Alton N g'\-renje was in East London - I think he is 
A • S • N gwenj e - the A • I think it 1 s A 1 ton. 
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They came to Port Elizabeth, and then there were some sort of( •• ••••• ) 
9iven to people who had defied, so the beauty of it was that I liaS also 
lLaugh) - I ,.,as also bemedalled (?) as it were , you see (Laugh) - I 
hadn't defied of course - everybody had refused us going to defy , see , 
but then in order to sort of please us or encourage us , we a l so had to 
be well, medalled , as it were - we - we - there was the youth league 
at the time - we did attend mee t ings , political meet-ings, but \'/ell , 
no t so much really at that time - well ( ,.,hile} the youth league was 
in existence - I actually became highly involved no\'/ with the youth 
league in 19.54 - that is exactly the year ,.,hen it issued out member­
ship cards - there hadn ' t been membership cards of the youth league 
before - now from then on there - there were membership cards , and we 
subscribed - it was two shillings a year in youth league , and in the 
ANC it was - the joining fee at the time ,.,as two and six and subscript­
ion ,.,as sixpence a ,.,eek. 

So there I was, ~11 , I had a youth league membership card and I became 
very , very much involved .... in 19.5.5 we went about to everybody all over 
Port Elizabeth - ,.,ell , all over South Africa, it was the same thing -
we (?) ,.,ere instructed by our chefs , go to people ,.,i th an exercise book , 
a pencil or a fountain pen - at that time I was already using a Parker, 
which was a very prestigious foun t ain pen - there was something else , 
Platinum too - I ,.,as using a Parker - so ,.;e went - ,.,e went from door 
to door , simply went to people and asked the question : How would they 
like South Africa ruled in order for themselves to - in order for them 
to consider themselves a free - leading a free life in a democratic 
South Africa - basically that was the question ~ ,.,ent to ask to people , 
you see, because prior to this there had - there ,.,as a pro9ramme that 
was raised , I believe by Professor Matthews , some,rhere in l ?) one of 
ANC meetings , executive meetings . 

Professor Hatthews said yes , ~ were fighting for freedom, but what 
kind of freedom did we want - what did we actually want - and then the 
ANC resolved to go to the people and ask them exactly what they ,.,anted 
that ,,.as ho,,. the Freedom Charter was collected - the Freedom Charter 
is not a programme of act ion , like the programme of action of 1949 -
neither is it a point like the ten point programme of the Unit y Move­
ment - it is a policy document that this is what people of South Africa 
want. 

Now the Freedom Charter was not formulated by an elite in the ANC in­
tellectuals or whatever, officials who sat down as a commission or some ­
t hing like that , as a committee to draft it, no - we went to the people 
from door to door - now Port Elizabeth you should remember now - Port 
Elizabeth has - well , I think you will have noticed, Port Elizabeth 
has always been a stronghold of the ANC , and it still is, by the way -
we were very, very active in Port Elizabeth - basically the - the -
the main reason for the ANC to become so strong was in - the reason -
the main reason - O. K., I can put it this ,,.ay, one of the reasons was 
that we always had a very reactionary cit y councils, and so right from 
19.53 city councils in Port Elizabe t h had banned ANC meetings in t he 
urban area of Port Elizabeth, as a result of which it was very, very 
difficult for us to have public meet ings , public rallies. 

We had our public rallies outside the urban areas of Port Elizabeth, 
of course not very far , but at least a bit of a distance away, about 
eight , ten miles away - roughly ten - ten miles away in a place called 
Veerplaat s , which ,.,as outside t he urban area of Port Elizabeth and • • •• 

Veerplaats? 
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Veerplaats - V e e p 1 a a t s - we held our meetings there in the 
private person's plot, small plot, so people from New Brighton and 
from Korsten went to Veeplaats for ANC public meetings, and therefore 
you will understand, you1 11 realise that this couldn't happen, you know, 
daily or weekly, you see - therefore - it did happen weekly really, 
but meetings were not always well packed, except when there would be 
something very, very important to be - to be spoken about or to be 
announced - so as a result of which 're - by this time Mandala had 
drawn up what came to be known as t-1andela Plan, which ,.,as merely some­
thing, you kno,.,, a plan of operation, ho,.,, you kno,.,, in - in small 
units which were called cells, zones, and then, you see, Port Elizabeth 
had 28 zones - no,., each zone would have round about ten - no, any ( ?) 
number, you kno,.,, between six and ten cells - now· each cell \'las com -
was attended- was composed of ten members and we - who (?) held their 
meetings in - in their houses, in private houses. 

Of course it was not al\'lays ten - those cell meetings would be packed 
for anything up to 30 sometimes - just one cell would have about 30 
members - and so that \'las why Port Elizabeth actually \'las very, very 
proficient - that \'laS h0\'1 ANC became very proficient - I mean Port 
Elizabeth became proficient in the implementation of underground str­
uctures - right from long before the ANC was banned - because we had 
had very reactionary city councils who had banned ANC public meetings. 

N ol~ in Johannesburg and in Cape Town and in Durban they didn t t have 
this - they still had lots of public rallies at Ne,., Clare, at Sophia­
town and all and - now the tendency in such situations is that people 
simply go to public meetings and then they go away - they are not -
I'm - I don't want to detract - I don't want to portray other places 
other than Port Elizabeth as if they were not seriously committed, but 
what all I'm trying to say is that they - they were not as active as 
Port Elizabeth •••• 

Why was that that Port Elizabeth was - is always the cradle of the ANC 
and active and they implemented the M. Plan - let me ask does it have 
anything to do l'lith the topic that I'm looking at, l'lhich is non-racial­
ism - I'm looking at - I want to ask you about things like the rise of 
the ANC youth league and the kind of Africanism element of that as opp­
osed to the - just the militant aspect of it, whereby there was just 
an offort to make it a more powerful organisation to build up the ANC -
but if I look at history it doesn't seem like you ever had Africanism 
in the Eastern Cape - you didn't have those other kind of tendencies. 

No , 1re didn t t. 

And why was that? 

That one is going to be very, very difficult to ans1rer - 1re didn't -
but I suppose it is the nature of the people - basically the nature of 
well, basically the Africans aren t t an ti-l'lhi te, they aren't racist -
they may be fed up now and - now and again they may be, you know, fed 
up with the situation, they may be frustrated, and they may voice racist 
sentiments, but basically they are not generally- that's not just pec­
uliar to Port Elizabeth but just generally- that's my idea of it -
no1-1 - but no, there is a danger of my l'lanting to put it simplistically 
and saying- you know, I mean that way it's simply really to put it 
simplistically - I should think it goes deeper than that, but that one 
is going to be very difficult at the moment - we 1 11 skip it ~or a mom­
ent anYl'lay. 
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But as you rightly have observed it, that in Port Elizabeth we were 
never attacked by, you know, Africanism as such, but that is also prob­
ably due to the types of leaderships 'lve ' ve allvays had and the consult­
ation with the people generally - you see , ANC is a very democratic 
organisation - there ' s a lot of consultation - sometimes you ge t fed 
up if you are , you l<now, the sort of the type of a person who feels 
dynamic '\vho should stand up and fight and so forth - you feel a l ittle 
bit fed up - for instance , just here , you go around here ANC mee t ings , 
there ' s a lot of talking - sitting down and talking for hours on end 
over one small issue , and peole disagreeing and people repeating each 
o t her ' s contributions , but t hat should generally actually contribut e 
t owards consultation and which, in turn , breeds fairness , open-minded­
ness , not racism, not Africanism as such - I should t hink it ' s one of 
t he things that contribute t owards that , but as I said , I want to skip 
that one a bit for now because maybe that is putting it rather simplis­
tically, you know • ••• 

But I don ' t want to skip it because it ' s really the area- i t' s one of 
the areas I ' m looking at - I ' m looking at how people developed, but I 
'\vant to know ho'\v did the ANC develop into a non- racial organisation 
there was a period in the • 6os and '70s , BC , '\vhen it wasn ' t so non­
racial , and there was also a period in the • 40s and ' 50s when there 
was Africanism - you '\vera down in t he Cape - can you think back and 
remember people talking about t he Africanist , people talking about the 
youth league being formed - even Mandala and Tambo said that they init­
ially were some'\vhat taken wit h Africanism and that they '\vere anti- white 
and anti-communist - how did you feel about that - did you have any of 
those kinds of' people in the Eastern Cape - or '\vhat did you say about 
those people - did you think oh, that ' s the Transvaal , they' re not clear 
or what did you say when you heard of - '\vhat was the talk in P . E . about 
Africanist? 

Well , come to that, yes, I ' m not - when I said let ' s skip it for a mom­
ent I didn ' t actually mean that we should not discuss it - 're ' ll come 
to that - you see , in Port Elizabeth '\ve - '\11'9 always ran classes , pol­
itical classes - the cells I was - I have just told you about were -
discussed ANC business and all that , but besides the cell meetings , 
the regular cell meetings, we - we have always had political classes 
from as long back as I can remember - I didn ' t join these - I did, I ' m 
sorry - I did join these , but I was not very regular before 1953 - I ' m 
saying this - I say before 1953 because I remember specifically dis ­
tinctly Robert t-1aji was the secretary of the ANC at the time in Port 
Elizabeth, Port Elizabeth branch - he is the first person to - I at t end­
ed classes of regularly - for a very long time - I think for about a 
year and - I mean for - up to t he time when he left Port Elizabet h - he 
went - he went a'\vay- he ' s in- I believe he ' s in Lesotho now, and at 
one time he was an HP there , I understand , Robert Maji. 

He is the person who - he ' s - it ' s his class that I joined and attended 
regularly , but before then my attendance at political classes was not 
as regular as it became after 1953 - you know· , it is in these political 
classes '\vhere we discussed real issues - I mean now not ANC business -
real issues , and I heard ( ? ) what is democracy and 'lvhat is Africanism, 
what is nationalism, what is communism , '\vhat is socialism, what is cap­
italism - it is in these political classes that we met 'lvorld leaders -
I mean the - the writings of \'10r1d leaders - where we met the 'lii'Ti tings 
of eminent persons , where we met a number of political shades from the 
back to Africa movement of Marcus Garvey 1933, '\vhere we discussed W.E . B. 
Du Bois, which '\ve used to pronounce as Du Boyce - I say Du Bois now 
having had the benefit of having been in France not long ago. 
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We - "\V"e discussed Lenin, \re discussed Harx. Engels , we discussed Ludwig, 
Feubach, '~e discussed a nwnber of this - you lmo,~, "\~e - ,.,.e discussed 
the French revolution, Paris Communes - where did they go wrong, how 
they failed - '~e discussed, as I said, French history , Robespierre , 
Dalton - it is in these political classes where ,.,e discussed t he - t he 
the - '\'/hat is - who is that man who - "\·lho led a - '~ho participated in -
in the revolution here in • 60 {?) which terminated in the beheading of 
King Charles the First in 1649 - who ' s that - I forget the man now. 

It is in these political classes we actually discussed history , and the 
his t ory that I was doing at high school I also met in these political 
classes but now in a different perspective altogether, with a polit ical 
analysis - we discussed the industrial revolution , we discussed t he 
repercussions of - and things l~e that - the - the struggles of the -
of the British people themselves there at t he beginning of the 19th. 
century in 1832 when they went mad , burning barns and all that, killing 
each other - we discussed the Wars of the Roses , we discussed the Cru­
sades - it is in these polit ical discussions , and as I said , we also 
discussed what is Harxism , what is - and '\'/hat of - what - what - of 
what use can "\ffl make of it , and it is - it '\~as again - it '~as again in 
these political classes, later on no1~ • • • • • ••••••••••• • •• • 

END OF SIDE ONE . 

It was in these political discussions where now later on '\'/e began the 
system of - sort of of specialising, as it were - for instance , we 
zoned in one of these classes - we zoned the world {?) and I remember 
at one time I was considered as an expert on Argentine , Poland, Czech­
oslovakia and Kenya - that was my region - I had to know everything 
about the struggles in - in those countries, what \'las tal<:ing place -
now another member of the class "\~ould take other regions - for instance , 
I remember Zola - Zola N qini, the man whose - '\'lho died in - in Lesotho 
not long ago ••• • 

Zola? 

Zola N qini - N q i n i - he dealt - in our class he dealt '\'lith Algeria, 
and Asia, I think it was Japan , and in Europe it was France - so each 
member "\'lould have a - a zone , a region in "\'lhich he specialised - you 
had to research the geography of your - of your region, the history of 
your region, economics of your region - to answer the question that I 
said we should skip a bit, I can only ans"\ver it in that fashion , that 
at least from as long ago - from as long back I mean from as early as 
that, we ' ve always been exposed to political discussions , to political 
classes - '~ell, I should believe it ' s one of the things that would con­
tribute - I ' m not saying this didn ' t happen in other places , but I do 
not believe that it '\vas as extensive and intensive as it took place in 
New Brighton. 

N ow I just "\vant to say to you, Zola Nqini came from Uitenhage - his 
home is in Uitenhage , but he always went to Port Elizabeth for these 
political classes - '~e all contributed - you had to resear - there '\vas 
there would of course be the - the leader- there would- O.K., we will 
put it this lvay, the actual lecturer, but mostly we did this by our­
selves - we did the researches by ourselves, and he simply was the guide 
I can put it that '~ay. 
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And it was in these political discussions where we first met such 
issues as sex discrimination - we began to appreciate the fact that 
there was a lot of discrimination between the sexes - I remember one 
tricky situation in which I found myself - there was the forerunner 
of the mini-skirt - it was called a leg-out - the skirts were shorter 
than they had been before - they had become a little bit shorter -
there was an old man who said - who asked me - not an old man - he 
wasn 1 t - he - he wasn't above JO at the time, who asked me : What is 
your opinion, what is your attitude towards the leg-out - people - our 
girls are beginning to lose their morals, their manners, their respect, 
their - their traditions and all that - they're losing their values, 
their African values - what is your attitude towards that. 

I answered him very, very simply, and in fact I was actually confused 
I didn 't knol.,r hol.,r to answer, but I did manage to tell him that all I 
was interested in was that I wanted the girl in a political meeting 
and in political classes - I didn 't particularly bother whether she 
came l'li th a - a bikini or anything of the sort - I - it wasn t t my - it 
was of no concern of mine , and now from - because now each time you 
came across such difficult questions like that you reported of course 
and , you knol.,r, told the others and sort of asked for guidance as far 
as such things were concerned - that's \.,rhen then well , others then 
would contribute, and it ' s then that we - we \'/ere for the first time 
well, I was for the first time exposed to such issue - issues as sex 
discrimination, which I had not thought of before - I had only been 
concentrating on the fact that I was oppressed as a black person - have 
I answered - do you think I have answered that question? 

But you said you were only concerned with the fact that you were opp­
ressed as a black person - it sounds like from all the reading you did 
didn ' t - did you not think about yourself being oppressed as a worker 
or because of your class? 

Not at first I didn't - not at first I didn't think it - of myself as 
being oppressed as a class until, as I say, I was fully in the political 
classes that I attended - not at first - at first there was quite a bit 
of nationalism in me - I ' m not saying racialism, I ' m saying nationalism. 

How was that different from racism - l'lhat do you mean - for you how is 
it different? 

For me it means that we're oppressed as a nation predominantly the 
nation is black , but I knew we were oppressed as a nation, and I was 
very much aware of the fact that South Africa as a whole was actually 
under the thumb of ,.,rorld imperialists like the British, so I at that 
time considered that to be rather wrong - I considered it that the 
riches of South Africa should be used to the benefit of South Africa 
I was very much aware of something that no,.,r strikes me forcibly now 
that I ' m here in Britain, that there is in this country right now over 
three million people who are being paid for, being unemployed - where 
does the money come from - I ' m struck by the realisation that Margaret 
Thatcher ' s attitude to\.,rards the issue of sanctions , it is simply be ­
cause she kno,.,rs if she would implement sanctions , the situation would 
radically change here - class structure would be affected one way or 
the other here - South Africa or countries like South Africa are act­
ually paying the unemployed people in Britain. 

Now if they were to impose sanctions , they are aware that such a sit­
uation would lead to their downfall- nol.,r it ' s a question of capitalist 
way of looking at things - capitalist or imperialist reality - that is 
why she's so vehemently and adamantly against the imposition of sanct­
ions •••• 
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Don't ta~ about Margaret Thatcher because that goes out of my area -
but just back to in our area. 

I was very much aware of such a situation even at that time, so I 
thought we were oppressed as a nation - not necessarily racist - I 
don't think I've ever been a racist - I've - I don't think I would 
have ever become an Africanist - even besides the fact that Africanism 
never manifested itself really to - to any extent in Port Elizabeth 
there were some people who did claim to belong to the PAC after the 
oreanis - those organisations - I mean after the oreanisations had 
been banned I did meet a few of them in Port Elizabeth, but it didn't 
take on as it did in Johannesburg and in Cape To,m, so even if I hadn 't 
been in Port Elizabeth I don t t think I w·ould have ever become an Afr­
icanist. 

And why didn 't some of the arguments of Africanism appeal to you- if 
I just look at the argument, there would be people who'd say that the 
anti-white bias is natural, that in fact workers or your grassroots 
feeling would be more leaning towards Africanism, that the average 
black in South Africa knows he's oppressed, feels he's oppressed because 
he ' s black - he knows that his boss is white, and that that's in fact -
even tactically it would be easier to say to people : Instead of runn­
ing political classes on Marx and the Paris Commune, that if you just 
said to blacks : Look, they're white, w·e • re black, that's what it's 
about - ho,.; - why •••• 

They the hatred is not natural - you just said that it ,.;ould be nat­
ural- what did you say- you said •••• 

I'm not saying I said it -I'm saying that's the line you get. 

Yes, yes, I understand you very well - you- you are - you are saying 
this is what would have been said, but hatred is not natural in any­
body - you can't simply hate naturally - you- hatred develops in a 
human being as a response to a given set of circumstances,not - it's 
not natural - it ' s not natural at all - I remember in my military 
training one instructor - I ' m not goine to mention the country - one 
instructor said to me : You people have to be able to develop hatred 
for your enemy in order for you to win - I asked him : Is that natural 
he said : No, I didn 't say so, you develop a hatred, you really develop 
hatred, you- you- you can 't simply be born hating, you- it ' s just 
not possible, just not - just I - I think you ,.;ould be an animal if 
you were - well, a wild animal - we all are animals, but I mean a wild 
animal to be born hating, I - I don't thllli~ so - I don't think so. 

Yes, we did come across a lot of these arguments that you say would 
have been said- all right, yes, it's quite true ,.;e did come across 
them, but whenever I looked at, let ' s say the pan-Africanists when they 
were now a factor, or even before then - you should remember now the 
ANC is a mass movement - it is composed of a lot of, you know, diff­
erent - it has people who subscribe to a variety of thoughts, political 
opinions, philosophies - the ANC has democrats, it has Africanists, it 
has nationalists, it has liberals, it has capitalists, it has thieves (?) 
it - they are all there. 

It is a - it is not a part - it is not a party like the Labour Party , 
like the Communist Party, the Conservative Party - it is a mass move­
ment - in the ANC there were Africanists - the people ,.,ho went to form 
the core of the PAC had been calling themselves Africanists from - from 
long ago - they - they became vociferous in 1949 and then later on again 
when just shortly before they went to form the PAC - they were always 
there, but ,.;hen you looked at them, what did they offer, what did they 
say? 
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R.M. You found that they were not saying that - they were actually, you 
know, when all - 1-1hen all is said and done, they '\'/ere actually saying 
there '\'las nothing "\..rong with the situation in South Africa, the - the 
socio-economic format - the socio-economic structure of South Africa, 
there was nothing wrong with that, except that the wrong colour was 
above - all that they wanted to do '\'las to simply invert the situation 
and place the black above, so we were fighting against a system - we 
were fighting against a system, not a colour - we were fighting against 
the system of oppression and exploitation - now exploitation everybody 
the boers are exploited in South Africa, the white - the working class 
of the Afrikaaners is exploited in South Africa - perhaps it is not as 
fully aware of it as I am, but it is - you get my point? 

So there is no way an Africanist can ever convince me that his cause -
his cause is genuine, because he does not address himself to the soc­
ial - to the socio-economic structure -he's addressing himself to -
to - to - I mean to the - the question of colour, you - what - you 
know, some things that are rather - that have no substance - now we 
want to get to the roots of the matter - that is why - and 1-1e were 
very much aware of this even before '\'/hen, as I've just said to you, we 
attended political classes we were very much a1-1are of this long before 
the manifestation of the PAC. 

In fact generally their - ·it was not their intention to break away from 
the - from the - from the ANC - they simply wanted to dominate - they 
tried this by - '\'/ell, they had always been trying - of course communists 
have always - have also always tried to dominate the ANC - the African­
ists as '..ell did the same thing, and they tried - they filled up a bus­
load and a truck or two from Johannesburg to Durban in 1958 when we 
had an - our annual conference - they brought a lot of people who w·eren' 
actually delegates but l'lho wouldn't then be chucked out of the - of the 
conference, because they were members of the ANC, except that of course 
if you were not a delegate you didn t t have votal po1'1ers - I mean you -
you did not vote but you'd be allo, .. ed, but when it came to voting peo­
ple would be asked to leave - I mean people \'lho , .. ere not delegates 
would be asked to leave. 

The intention was simply to come and create - you know, make a lot of 
noise in order to try and influence the situation so that the people 
they \vanted nominated, the people they wanted elected into - into the 
national executive committee of the ANC would be predominatly the Afr­
icanists - they failed in this - they failed dismally - I like telling 
this part of the story, that Tambo was the - was the chairman - was 
chairing the meeting in the absence of the president, President Lutuli 
Lutuli was al,vays under banning, so he - he didn t t attend this meeting 
Tambo was the chair - was the chairman - very, very steady - type of a 
guy who - '\vho gives the devil a long rope to hang himself. 

Because what I remember very much was that I '~s very, very much fed 
up '\'lith him at the time, because we kept on lifting up our hands in 
order - you kno, .. , we '\vanted to speal<.: - he simply, you know, bypassed 
us and gave a floor to these PAC people, Africanists at the time, a lot 
of chances to speak, and they were making a lot of noise at the time -
there '\vas Josia 1>1adzunya, there was Potlako Leballo, "\vho shouted from 
from the door right up next to the stage crying, you know, and , .. aving 
his fists about, Africa for Africans, Africa for Africans, and they 
were mal<.:ing a lot of noise - there was - there "\vas one social democrat 
from - 1>1fa.xa from some"\vhere - there was also T. E. Kachanung'\va (Laugh) -
one confused element from Queensto,m, but very articulate, and in fact 
an orator. 
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So Tambo ~ave them a lot of chance to speak and - but when he did give 
us the chance to speak ,.,e addressed ourselves to the issues - well, un­
fortunately the meeting did.n • t end very ,.,ell because these chaps, when 
they fol.Uld that no,., they could not anSl'ler us no,.,, they resorted to what 
all minorities usually resort to, violence - 1rell, it was a non-starter 
with us - ,.,ell, ,.,e - we simply dealt 1'1ith them very fast, quick , and 
they ran away from the conference in ord - and then three months later 
on, in January, 1959, they announced the formation of the PAC. 

This "\'las the conference that they ran al'lay from - ,.,here was it being 
held and ,.,hen? 

In Durban. 

In Durban, 19? 

'58 - rol.Uld about September, October. 

What kind of conference "\'las it? 

Annual conference of - of the ANC. 

Just tell me a little bit more about that because I'm just so inter­
ested - for some people who (?) would ask them about the ANC youth 
league and the Africanism, they ,.,ould have been up in the Transvaal 
and had a different perspective - you had been dolm in P.E. mainly, 
right, and you' d gone up to Durban for the conference - so for you -
you did.n ' t tell me, were you working by then - you ,.,ere like 19 - were 
you - when did you leave school? 

I left school as soon as I finished my matric - that l'las in 1956 - I 
skipped Form One - I had skipped Sub A the first thing, and I had - I 
went on to skip Form One because I had passed ,.,ell my Standard Six, and 
at the time if you earned yourself a bursary you skipped Form One - you 
went straight to Form T"\'10 - at that time there wasn't much tobacco and 
( ••••••••••• )in my- so I left school in- at the end of 1956- I 
worked for an insurance company - oh, first of all, my first employment 
was as a driver for a commercial salesman - travelled throughout South 
Africa •••• 

A commercial? 

A commercial salesman - we travelled throughout South Africa and half 
Namibia •••• 

Did you do any were you able to do - did you do any political work 
then or you ,.,ere just driving - you couldn • t be? 

No, just my - my my responsibility was the car - I just drove him 
about - he told me where to go, I drove there - his chauffeur - his 
chauffeur •••• 

A white guy? 

He was a l'lhi te guy - he l'las - he was - he ,.,as seven years older than me -
he was 24 at the time - he was a white guy - his name l'las Gerald Marco -
we were representatives of a firm in Johannesburg, John Hess and Godfrey. 

Did you get any sense of Africanism and ANC support in other parts of 
the country by travelling or were you too busy l'lith the work you couldn't 
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Oh, yes, I did in the places in South Africa (?) - you see, we would 
be out of - we'd be aw·ay from Port Elizabeth for six weeks - two weeks 
in Port Elizabeth, six weeks out, two weeks in, six w·eeks out, so at 
weekends I attended ANC meetings in - in the towns that I - I visited -
East London, Durban, Johannesburg •••• 

So what I'm trying to say is, being in P.E. up until you were 17 and 
you were growing up in the ANC, you had a feeling of a clear organis­
ation that educated you politically, that had an agenda for transform­
ing society, not just for putting black faces in lihere whites were 
you were very clear and you're saying that's what P.E. was about -I'm 
asking you when you drove around to these other places you went to 
other ANC meetings, did you think oh, liOl'l, there's some Africanism out 
there, or did you still feel it was a tiny tendency - did you encounter 
it at all or did you - l'las this Durban meeting the first time you sali 
the Leballos and co •••• 

No , no, it was not the first time - no, I didn't - I - I - I didn't 
get that feeling as I was travelling about in South Africa - no, I 
didn't get that feeling at all - the only things - the only minor 
issues that I noticed was that the - the branches were - other branches 
were not as active as Port Elizabeth, that's all - well, I'm being a 
little big regionalistic here, but then it is - it was quite true that 
what I observed lias that they weren't as active as Port E lizabeth, but 
I didn't see any manifestations of - of Af - rabid - rabid Africanism 
as such, no, I didn't- it's only lihen these people actually started 
making themselves a nuisance that I noticed it, but now at the time I 
was no longer a traveller - I only travelled for one year three months. 

When did they start makin~ themselves a nuisance( ••••••••••• ) 

I can say roughly 1957 really, after the treason trial - you see, the 
treason trial lias sort of - it also acted like a sieve in a way, be­
cause leaders from all over South Africa, you see, liere - you know, 
were in Johannesburg, and so these ideas sort of permeated (?) amongst 
them, and it's then that they began making themselves noticed really -
I'm not saying that they weren't there before - I'm not saying that l~ 
liere not aliare of Af'ricanism before, and as - as I 1 ve said to you, that 
f'rom as long back as 1949, for instance, Hadzunya l'las already a nuis­
ance, but he l'las an Af'ricanist within the ANC - he l'las still tolerable, 
I can put it that l'lay, or tolerated- they- it's only during the tre­
ason trial that noli they sort of' became more of a nuisance than they 
had been. 

Perhaps, on the other hand, because we were developing politically, we 
were maturing politically, and the - the revolution l'las sifting now, 
so I suppose because lie liere developing and they became noticeable, 
they became - you kno,.,, they sort of liere stumbling blocks in the dev­
elopment of the revolution, so I suppose that lias lihy noli they became 
more noticeable now in - you know, after the treason trial - or let me 
say during the treason trial, which was from December, 1956. 

If they became more noticeable would that bo because they hadn't - they 
got more support? 

lY'ell, at the treason trial they were all'lays discussing politics and all 
that - I mean after the trial they met, they - they sort of' conversed, 
they socialised and all that and well, they influenced each other, and 
then they also had their ow.n political classes, by the "''lay - then people 
who were a little bit reactionary came out into the open now and then 
they openly- l'lell, I wasn't in the treason - I'm simply now supposing 
f'rom hearing f'rom people l'lho were accused, this is actually l'lhat was 
happening. 
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Well , they met , they socialised and all that , and then they exchanged 
ideas, and chaff was sifted and they became t he chaff. 

lvere they in t he trial - they were t reason trialis t s? 

Ja , t hey were treason trialis t s , yes , yes ••• • 

Hadzl.U1ya , Leballo? 

Well - Hadzunya, '~as he a t reason t rialist , I don ' t remember - I don ' t 
t hink so - I don ' t kno'\~ - I don 't kno'\~ - I ' m not so sure about Madzunya, 
but I know Pot lako Leballo , T . E . Kachanungwa, Mfaxa, Pet er Rabaroko , 
Pet er :t-lolot si , yes , they were treason trialists as well - yes , yes , 
t hey '\~ere there - they were t here - t hey had been active members of 
t he ANC , you should remember •••• 

Le-e me just •••• 

Highly commit t ed , by the way - I mean I ' m not trying t o de t ract from 
the - '~ell , their commit men"t - no , they l"lere highly committed - act­
ually good politicians , and as I ' ve said, many of t hem ,.;ere very, very 
articulate - many of them mas t ered their points very ,.;ell , except t hat 
of course they couldn ' t convince us t hat they had a message - we want 
t he message , we don 't wan -e a lot of tall~ and nothing, you see , so t hey 
t hey - t hey didn ' t make much of an impact - they didn t t make much of an 
impact as the BCH has of lat e , for instance - I don '"t t hink that - well , 
I don ' t particularly care fo r t he BCH, but I think that it had more 
impact t han the PAC really ever had , except that PAC • s a b iays making a 
lot of noise - making a lot of noise , then t here ' s no -ching - right now 
at t he moment they ' re making a lo t of noise , but what are t hey doing -
we - we look at people , we look a t an organisation or a t a movement in 
terms of what i t is doing , in t erms of performance - now what is i-c 
doing - that is ,.;hat '\ie - we look - that is - I I ' m not saying we 
I mustn ' t say we , because I ' m active in the ANC - I mean people will 
look a t the deeds more t han what is said •••• 

And when you looked at the PAC back in the late ' 50s and on did you 
see - what - hO'\i did you explain their mo"t ivation - did you t hink t hey 
were just confused , did you t hink they had more of an agenda like a 
liberal or , as you put it , social democratic agenda that they clearly 
just were - did you thuu~ t hey were anti-communist , did you encount er 
that , or did you think t hey just hadn ' "t been educated or how did you 
explain it - 1rere there element s of all of those perhaps? 

Oh, well , yes , they had element s of all of those , but they - t hey were 
clear of what "they wanted , even if I - I don ' t agree wi"th "them, I -chink 
t hey were clear of what they wanted , but as an• ••••••••••••••••• 

END OF SIDE TWO . 

• • •• so I - I didn ' t have much - I didn ' t - I didn ' t experience much 
discussions 1cith PAC people , meet ing "them in t he s -creet or in t he halls 
i t' s only when I go t o Johannesb urg t ha"t I meet "them, but now at t he 
time nOli '~hen t hey were a l ready an - a different organisat ion , oh, '\iell , 
I lias no longer discussing 1vit h t hem anYloJay. 

Where were you? 
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Oh , I - w·ell , I - I ·wouldn 't have had such a time, because each time 
I went to Johannesburg I went for my other businesses, not in order 
to go and exchange, you know, with - '~ith PAC. 

But did you people in P.E. or when you '~ent to Jo t burg and you talked 
to people , did you think these were confused people or did you think 
that they '~ere specifically political people l~ho lfflre anti-.ANC because 
they liTere anti-commtmist - did you see any political ideologies clash­
ing , did you think it '~s - because I •••• 

Yes, I l~as very much aware that they - we were clashine with them ideo­
J.oeically - I did think that they were confused , yes, in a way, but I 
did notice - oh, well , I mean, well, even from readine newspapers I 
did see that at least they thought they had a message - in any case, 
they did make a lot of noise, as I said - they did say that they had a 
message - they wanted Africa for Africans and they w·anted to - to chase 
away the Indians , and they said nothing much about the - the Coloureds -
the Coloureds made them a little bit disconcerted, you see - they were 
not much decided about the situation of the Coloureds at the time, '~hich 
is why - which is why I base my assumption that - my assertion that 
they were - they '~ere a little bit confused , but they - '~ell, they had 
a message , as I said, and liTell , I accepted that. 

Was the message anti-communist explicitly? 

Oh, yes , they '"ere anti-commtmist , yes , yes, yes - they '~ere anti­
commtmist - they definitely were anti-communist, but mostly rabidly 
anti-l~hite , you see - I have said (?) they w·ere confused - listen to 
this - when they started their campaien , their anti-pass campaign , '"hich 
they had stolen from us, by the way , but simply because l~e are tardy, 
conservative, always wanting to do thines on the 26th. June , we were 
preparing for a - a once and for all campaign against the pass - what 
they did no'" '"as to steal a march on us and they - they - they started 
their campaign before '~e did, you see - they started it in March, as 
everybody no'~ knOliTS, that they asked people to go and surrender their 
reference books at - at police stations on the 21st. Harch. 

1fe met a few of them '~ho '~ere - who said : Listen , you were going to 
expose people to the trigger- happy police in South Africa - one of them 
said to me : Ralph, you are a member of the ANC , I'm a member of the 
PAC - you run your AN C your Ol1111 way , I never interfere - nol~ stop want­
ing to interfere liTith our organisation - which l~as fair enough, I let 
him be - they said in this campaign of their they '\ITould follow the 
policy of' no bail , no defence , no f'ine - now· a group of' them travelled 
doliiil to Port Elizabeth some -cime in February - they came dol1111 to Port 
Elizabeth, but now, you see, in Port Elizabeth, oh, '"ell, they had no 
chance , let me just put it briefly that liTay. 

They came down to Port Elizabeth in a - in two cars - '~e ' "ent to the 
house ,.,here they - of the person they had arrived at, so lffl asked them 
politely to leave Port E lizabeth, and they told us that '"e '"ere not the 
government and '"e '"ere not the police , and '"e 're not going to push them 
about - then ,.,e told them point blank that : Listen, '"e '~ere going to 
push you - '~e '"ere going to push them about - '"e didn 't '~ant them - we 
didn 't want them to come and pollute the air of Port Elizabeth- let 
them remain in Johannesburg doing their dirty lrork there and people in 
Johannesburg will deal l'lith them - '~e don't want to import troubles 
into the Eastern Cape - there was a bit of' pushing that ensued , you see­
well , it ended up 1-lith their running al'lay. 
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So they drove away to Uitenhage, which is about 27 miles away - is it 
21 or 27 miles away - as soon as they crossed the bridge entering Uit­
enhage they stopped somewhere - they - they ,.,ere stopped by somebody 
who simply told them that : Gentlemen, i£ you take this direction , you 
are going to the to'\mships - i£ you take that direction , you will be 
on your way to Johannesburg - please, out, just go through - just go 
past - so they ,.,ere surprised how we had connnunicated l'lith - so fast 
we had communicated '\'lith Uitenhage - so they drove do'\m and they went 
to Grahamsto'\m - now in town there, in the city, they drove to a fill­
ing station - they wanted to fill up - they l'lere filling up petrol -
the attendant, the petrol attendant there filled up their car and he 
charged them and he - as he was giving them the receipt he told them 
he said : Gentlemen, drive through Grahamstow.n, we don 't want you stopp­
ing here - they had to drive through. 

As soon as they arrived in King William ' s Tolm they went to Amatoli 
Hotel, I think, or is it - was it Royal Hotel - they bought themselves 
a meal - one waitress served them - as soon as she was through with 
serving them she told them : Gentlemen, you are not welcome in King -
in King lVilliam' s To'\m - they were surprised, so they drove to East 
London - now in East London they were met by police - they l'lere seen 
by police driving to- to( •••••••••• ) Hotel, I believe , and they were 
£ollO'\'Ied there, and then they were arrested £or entering East London. 

I don 't actually know exactly what happened, because you - you still 
could go to any tol'ln in South Africa, but you had to report at the 
administrative offices - administration offices l'lithin 72 hours - but 
then they were arrested and \'/ere charged £or - £or passes - O. K., £or 
one infringement or another - they were charged - they paid what is 
known as admission o£ guilt, which is a - a device to enable you not 
to go and appear in court - you ' ll simply agree that O.K., I've comm­
itted a crime- O.K., you've committed an offence, so- I have comm­
itted an offence, so can I pay an admission o£ guilt - you - well , the 
station commandant l'lill charge you, and then you'll be released - that 
is what they did no,.,, w'hich is as good as having paid a fine , in spite 
o£ the fact tha~ their campaign was - campaign policy was ~hat they 
would pay no bail, no defence, no fine. 

And then again later on no\'/ outside South Africa - no,., ,.,e had one mad­
cap from Cape To·wn called Patrick Duncan, son of a former governor 
general o£ South Africa - Patrick Duncan belonged to the - well, he 
belonged to every organisation in South Africa - he belonged to the 
lately (?) he belonged to the Liberal Party o£ South Africa, and he 
was the editor o£ Contact , Contact being a - their periodical they 
produced , ,.,eekly periodicals - weekly - at the time I '\'las working for 
N e'\'1 Age - I was a ne'\'/S reporter for N e'\'1 Age - I '\'las in Port Elizabeth ••• 

From when to when were you with New Age? 

I was '\'lith Ne'\-1 Age from 1958 until I left South Africa. 

So basically after your driving? 

Yes, I had left driving, yes - I was only one year driving. 

And then you ,.,ent right •••• 

I went to l'lork £or a ne,., - South African Life Assurance as a clerk -
well , then Govan Mbeki had come dolm to Port Elizabeth to open up .ANC 
I'm sorry, N el'l Age office - he asked that I should ,.,.ork with him - I -
I went to work with him, you see. 
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I didn 't actua.lly "''lant at first , you see , because I ,.;as "'vorking for 
an insurance company - I "''las getting JJ pounds , seventeen and six a 
month - now he came do"'·m and then he 1vent to see my father - he asked 
about me : 1fhere is that sone of' yours -my father said : Oh , he 's 
gro"'m up now, he ' s employed - oh, I "'..rant somebody to 1.;ork wit h here , 
I ' ve come to open a New Age office - my father said :O.K., I'll send 
him along to you, you ' ll talk with him- so my father told me about 
this, so I - the first question I asked "''las : HO"''l much a mont h - my 
father said : T"''{enty ~ive pounds - I said : No doing - from thrity 
t hree pounds , seventeen and six a "'veek do1m to twenty five pounds , no 
doing- I'l look for somebody for instead- my father said : No , he 
wants - he wanted you because he kno"'vS you - he 1.;ants somebody "'vho is 
also in the struggle- I said : Yes , O.K., there are hundreds of' t hem 
here in Port Elizabet h , he he just has to tap and get them. 

So my ~ather ' s advice that I should first go and speak 1..rith Mbeki -
t hat' s one meeting I should not have gone to, you see , because when I 
came out there I had accepted t he 25 pounds a \reek - a month - so I 
\vent -co tender (Laugh) my resignation "'vith the insurance company, see 
I ' d been hooked (Laugh) 

But you were telling me about Patrick Duncan and I interrupted. 

Ja, see , "'ve "'vere working for - for New Age (Interruption) 

• • • • let me just say in terms of' cons erving your time.. .. - selves "'vi th 
people lLke Duncan , because I ' m just interested •••• 

I ' m as interested in "that one as you are because I - I couldn 't under 
you see , Patrick Duncan "'vas rabidly anti-communist - he was just a 
:frustrated element 1vho wanted , you see - people lLke Patrick Duncan 
are people "'vho are merely intQrested in - in themselves really - in 
placing themselves somewhere in the hierarchy o:f an organisation - "''lhat­
ever organisation, it doesn 't particularly matter to them - he - he 
was in the Liberal Party - he ran their newspaper, Contact - most of' 
what he did "''las to be attacking the - the - the congress allaince 
rather than address itsel:f to the - the situation o:f oppression - it 
simply concentrated on snipine; at us, and he "'vas at the helm of' this 
he was the - the - the editor of' Contact . 

He ended up - he "''las just a con:fused element - he ended by - he ended 
up by aligning himself' with the other con:fused elements, the PAC -
they were saying they were anti-white , then they accepted him and they 
made him their - their chief' representative in Algeria. 

Did you ever ask them ho"'v they could be anti •••• 

No , "\'fell , this time I 1.;as outside here - I was outside South A:frica -
I had gone out for military training and it was o:f no interest to me, 
it was o:f no concern to me - in any case I "\'lO uldn ' t - I didn 't have 
time to be asking at that - I didn ' t - I didn 't - I didn ' t meet them 
o:ften in order to, you lmow, sort of' discuss "'vith them , no , and I don 't 
think I would have been disposed to t hat really - I didn 't care - but 
it "'vas quite interesting to me - here ' s Patrick Duncan , violently anti­
communist - here is PAC , violently anti-communist , but PAC ' s been say­
ing that they are also anti-white , but now they've employed - they have 
taken him as a member , and you should remember that if' a person is a -
a chief' representative of' an organisation anY".;here, he is in an import­
ant position in "'vhich he kno"'vS much about that movement because he has 
to be in:formed of' almost - of' everything so as to be able to - to - to 
,.;ell , he is an ambassador, so he has to consort with o t her governments 
with the government o:f the country in "'vhich he is and representatives 
of' other governments :from all over the "'vorld. 



R. HZAHO. PAGE 16. 

R.H. 

J.F. 

R.M. 

J . F . 

R. H. 

J.F . 

J.F. 

J.F. 

Therefore he is in a central position as it is - his - his - he 's in 
a- he ' s in a central position , in the position where he knows almost 
everything about - he knows everything, and at that time I don 't kno'\17 
if they did get to train people in Algeria, but at that time they were 
also asking countries to train their people f'or - you kno'\17' t o give 
t hem military training - so now here they were , they had changed. 

N0'\17 as I said to you , I - I a t one time said to you that they were 
just really confused - basically they '\ITere confused , O. K . - right , 
they may have had a message , they may have believed in what they -
they '\17ere saying, but here they were - at first they said no bail, no 
defence, no fine , and t hen the very - the very leadership of that or­
ganisation went to pay an admission of guilt - here they were saying 
they were anti-'\17hite , then they come and accept Patrick Duncan . 

1fhat ' s the root of anti-communism in the black commLUlity, do you t hink -
in t he white commLUlity you could see why people might be anti-commLUlist 
and t hat t hey would think( ••••••••••••••• ) that it 's the same kind of 
thing - if everyone gets together t o change the system, blacks get to­
gether and t he whites 'll be out, but wit h black people did you ever 
get any insight into '\17hy people were - why blacks were anti-communist? 

I 've never met - well , except PAC people I ' ve never met anti-commLUlist 
people - I have never - I 've never met - I can 't say I did meet people 
'\17ho are anti-commLUlist and vociferously so - if they were , t hey didn't 
make much- they didn 't say much about that - but there's a problem (?) 
I come from Port Eli7.abeth - you - you get my point '\17hen I say t hat -
I say there's a problem because I come from Port Elizabeth, and Port 
Elizabeth generally '\17e - '\17e are not anti-communist , one - t'\-ro, we are 
not Africanist , and '\17e are just ANC. 

Did you feel that the commercial press, the '\17hite rLUl press gave - '\17as 
more pro-PAC than pro-ANC or more ANC than pro-PAC? 

They didn ' t exist for a long time - they existed for one year • ••• 

But af'ter •••• 

But they '\17ere given , yes, a bit of publicity, but not much - they were 
given a lot of publicity '\17hen they were making a lot of noise , but not 
really that much - I - I - I can 't quite remember that they '\17ere act­
ually given more publicity t han we ,.;ere , because generally the prin­
ciple in South Africa '\17as that they should ic;nore black opposition , 
black movements , see - they should not popularise them in any way. 

Why '\17as it that the press at the time the PAC had its laLUlching did i t 
spend for a year - apparently all the '\17hite commercial press had picked 
l-ladzLUlya to be the leader , and it turned out to be this • • •• 

Not necessarily - it ' s not that- it ' s just that he '\17as - he - he - he 
talked too much and he - he always went to prominent places , he always 
went to- you kno'\17 , like for instance, he would stop near the Park(?) 
Station in Johannesburg and start , you kn.0'\17 , addressing people , you see , 
so he - he kept himself - he gave himself quite a high - a high profile 
in that respect - it ' s not necessarily that he was g iven high prominence 
by the press as such - I can only remem- I do remember of course that 
he was once giv - he '\17as once interviewed by Drum , I think, '\17here he -
he '\17as just talking nonsense - I don • t actually remember the - what he­
the exact thing that he said at the time, but I remember thinking oh, 
this man is just off his mind (Laugh) 

Do you remember seeing S obukwe - was he different? 



R. MZANO. PAGE 17. 

R.M. 

J.F . 

R . M. 

J . F. 

R. M. 

J.F. 

R. M. 

J . F. 

R.M . 

J . F. 

R,H. 

No , I never - I never - I never actually differ - yes , I - I met Sob­
uklve once or tlvice, but I never actually discussed lvith him and never 
had much impression about him , but I know there were some people who 
lvere surprised that he had aligned himself' lvith the - I mean he had 
gone to PAC , you see - there were people ~,.rho 1vere surpirsed, but I 
knew nothine- about Sobul<lve really - I can't say anything much about 
that. 

Lembedi , did you knolv •••• 

Lembedi, Anthony Lembedi - no , I never knelv him - I only heard of him. 

Let me tak~ it from another side aside from that - first of all maybe 
you should just tell me a bit about what else you '\vere doing - you 
1vere in Nelv Ae;e from ' 58 until - just tell me a bit about lvhat else 
you got involved with and how you came to leave the country - just pick 
up more on your life story. 

No , it ' s very simple - holv I came to be outside the country is simply 
that I joined the !ITC •••• 

From lvhen? 

From bef'ore its - its official announcement - I ' m one of the founders 
of the tone in the Eastern Cape command - I lvorked lvi th - 11Ti th Dlamini -
you knolv him? 

( ••••••••••• ) Vujsili Mini t he singer? 

Yes , at the ( •• •••• •••• ) 
formed the :r.nc and I •••• 

I worked with them - I joined the MK - we 

Tell me how you came to form it - it lvas '58 you were working in New 
Age - you had this wonderful job for 25 pounds a month - didn 't you 
see that as a way for change - how did you get to - I don 't want to 
gloss over the decision to joined the armed struggle and not to join 
it but to create it, so I don 't want you to just say you created it -
can you just tell me lvhat in your mind led you to - there lvere people 
lvho 'vere stal1varts of' the struggle but they stopped short of' picking 
up arms and putting themselves at risk at that level, so I just don 't 
think you should just gloss over it - ho1v did you come to found it and 
lvhy? 

I ' m not e;oing to say lvhat I did - there lvere not I did - I ' m going t o 
say very felv- I ' m going to do a little bit of a selection here - I 1 d 
ahvays f'elt that we can - we ' d never win in South Af'rica without re­
sorting to violence - I am not the only one to have had that opinion -
I ' d allvays thought -you see , because the situation in South Af'rica 
was as it is , as you see it , where we 1vere engaged - engaging in extra ­
parliamentary methods of struggle, but non-violently - deputations , 
delegations , conferences, protest marches and all that from long ago . 

The very f'irst action the ANC did in 1912 1-ras to send a delegation to 
England in 1913 - they were pushed about here until they 1-rere ignored , 
because at that time the world lvas at '"ar no,., , in 1914 the - the - the 
First World 1tfar began , so they - they were ignored - they went back to 
South Af'rica - in - in the South African '"ar - in '"hat is called t he 
South Af'rican War, '"hich '"asn't (?) South Af'rican lvar- the war of 189 
1898 to 1902 I can saf'ely say 75 percent of' the blacks '\-rere support ing 
t he English - the blacks in Sout h Africa all-rays '"anted to be friendly 
wit h the Ene;lish- well, O. K. , England, Britain and all that. 
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You w·ill notice f'rom the structures of' the A.~C - the very f'irst struc­
ture of' the ANC w·e had - it - it took on the model of' the British con­
stitution - we had a house of' chief' and a house of' commons - I'm glad 
liTe no longer have that rubbish - ,.,e had a house of' chief's and a house 
of' lords, you see - we always hankered af'ter British way, British sys­
tem and all that, but we were always betrayed by the English right -
historically right f'rom history. 

Incidentally at the moment - we've to divert just a little - incident­
ally at the moment I'm engaged in a research here - we are producing 
video f'ilms - we have the premise - liTe start f'rom the premise that 
apartheid actually predates the advent of' the Af'rikaaner National Party 
government in 1948 - there was apartheid in South Af'rica at British 
administrations in the 16th. - sorry, in - in the 19th. century there 
was apartheid - there l..rere passes in South Af'rica in 1806. 

\fhat the Af'rikaa:ners did, what the National Party did in 1948 was to 
constitutionalise a fact - a f'actor - they constitutionalised apart­
heid, they legislated f'or it - they've created a situation where it is 
an of'f'ence not to practice apartheid in South Af'rica, but they merely 
rubber-stamped a situation that had existed - I'm not saying that they 
are not racist - I'm not saying they l..rouldn't have done the same thing, 
but I'm drm..rine attention to something that is sometimes not mentioned, 
not highlighted, especially by the British media. 

As I said, the African people always hankered af'ter, you kno,.,, English 
way of' doing things, but they were constantly betrayed - as I said, in 
1898 to 1902, 75 percent of' the blacks ,.,ere on the side, if' I can put 
it that l..ray, of' - of' the Enelish against the - the Af'ril<:aaners, but in 
19 - and they said they - they - they l..rere drivers and all that - but 
in 1910 they l..rere sidelined - they l..rere not there at the formation of' -
at the unification ( ?) of' the country - they ,.,ere not there, they were 
not represented, and the ANC was f'ormed - it sent a delegation to Eng­
land specifically in order to make a representation on behalf of' the 
Af'ricans. 

In 1914 aeain most blacks were - l..rere - were on the side of' - of' the 
allies - ,.,ell, I l'fill ( ?) say now all blacks l..rere on the side of' the 
allies - they came here, they - a contingent (?) of' them - 800 black 
soldiers went down ldth a ship named :Handy - it - it ,.,as sunk by a U­
boat, a German U-boat between the Isle of' Wight and Southampton in 
this country - 800 blacks they went dolm l..rith that boat - they'd come 
to fight alongside the - the - the British against the Germans - they 
had f'orgotten the betrayal of' 1910. 

The Second \vorld War at - at the declaration of' hostilities, the ANC 
suspended its political programme and encouraged people to - to mob­
ilise, to - to - to - to go and f'ight on the side of' the allies against 
the Germans - l..rhat l..rere the Af'rikaaner National Party people doing at 
the time - they l'lere saboteurs, they l'lere treacher - they engaged in 
treason in - in treachery - they ,.,ere sabotaging, they '..rare doing all 
sorts of' things - many of' them were - l..rere - '..rare interned, many of' 
them ,.,ere detained for the duration of' the ,.,ar - Vorster, f'or instance, 
l..ras detained for the for the six years of' the ,.,ar - there ,.,ere others. 

There ,.,as Erasmus, a former minister of' justice in South Africa - well, 
I mean later minister of' justice in South Africa l'lho ,.,as also detained 
during the sabot - l..rhy need I enumerate - there l..rere many - all of' them 
they l..rere - they l..rere on the side of' the Germans aeainst the - the - the 
British alliance - or the allies. 
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But let me revert a little back again to - to history - the war of 
1835 , '"'hich is called tho Inza War and it is called the sixth - the 
Inza '"'ar - the Inza '"'ar of Inza, King Inza • • •• 

How do you spell that? 

H i n t s a - it is sometimes said it was the sixth ,.,ar, kaf:fir war -
I don 1 t call it that - to me it is the tenth '"'ar of' dispossession , be­
cause I number my - I number the wars from the very :first - from the 
very first '~r of dispossession in 1658 to 1660 - I say that '"'as the 
first - I don 1 t say it '"'as a khoi-khoi '"'ar, no, no - I say that '"'as 
the first -now- and I don ' t say the first Basotho war - it's (?) the 
second Basotho '"'ar, the e;un war - I say the - the - the - the eleventh, 
thirteenth war of dispossession - I - there - I - there's no '"'ay where 
I ' m going to distinguish and try and create divisions - there was just 
resistance right through from all sections from all over South Africa. 

So nm"' '"'hat happens is this - the Hintsa ,.,.ar, it w·as the English pre­
dominantly - Sir Benjamin Durban and Sir Harry Smith w·ho - '"'ho - who 
,.,ere fichting against the people of South Africa - the '"'ar of 1846 to 
1847, it was - no,., this one now - there had already been the Great Trek, 
many Afrikaaners - there '"'ere English as ,~11 - many A:frikaaners had 
left the Cape and, you kno'"'' the exodus of 1835 - no,., by the - of 1836 
by - by the war of 1846 to 1847, it '"'as the English ,.,ho fought in the 
Eastern Cape, mainly - the boers fought else,vhere - they fought in the 
against the Zulus in 1838 at the Battle of Ncome, lvhich has come down 
to be lmown - ,.,ell , I - I rewrite the history, so you'll have to bear 
with me - it has come dolm to be kno'm as - '"'hat ' s that - Dingaan ' s 
Day - later on there '\vas that battle of Blood River, you see, so I 
don ' t name them that way- I say the Battle of Ncome, Ncome being the 
river. 

:END OF SIDE ONE. 

In 1838 the boers '"'ere involved with Sekwati in - in Harotaland in 
what I call Narotaland - that is in the Transvaal - Pediland if you -
if you prefer - in - in - in Zululand the boers were fighting in the 
Cape we ,.,ere fightine; - the - the - the English were fightine; in the 
Cape in 1847 - 1846 to 1847 the same - 1850 to 1851 the same, you see 
now look at it now - look at the collusion of interests here between 
the English and the Afrikaaners when it comes to dealing ,.,.i th blacks, 
and when there '"'as no war it was because the blacks had won that round, 
the '"'ar ceased - but as soon as they were stronger - in a stronger pos­
ition they - they - they started the lvar - they went to war - there was 
that constant struggle for land, that constant struggle against opp­
ression, against the incursion, against the invasion - the intrusion. 

There was truce when the blacks had won, so all of this history has 
always been in my mind, that the best way is to fight it out - there 
is no way the imperialists are going to let ground until they are beaten 
and they are beaten thoroughly - before then there ' s just no way - look 
at a non-violent sit - look at the situation where we are asking the 
world now at present for sanctions and Nargaret Thatcher, Ronald Reagan 
and the others keep on vetoing the -the sanction resolutions at the UN, 
but this is a non-violent action, so ,.,hat do they want - what do they 
want - this is non-violent. 
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Then they come to tell us that - they come to tell the ANC that we must 
lay do1m our arms and accept the Botha reforms - that one is a non­
starter - '"e can't - there ' s no space for non-violence in South Africa -
we have been responding to the violent - to violent regimes - we have -
'"e have responded to a violent situation , we - we were not violent - we 
didn 't start the violence -we didn 't shoot the people in Sharpeville 
in 196 - in 1960 - it is the state - and we didn 't ban ourselves in 
1960 - it - it is the - the - the regime that banned us - there was no 
way now we could even engage in non-violent in the extra-parliamentary 
method<~ of struggling - '"e were not allo,,ed that - but we are oppressed 
'"e don 1 t want to be oppressed - so we want to come out of oppression -
what else is there to do now - what else is left now simply is that ,,e 
should fight . 

Now I 1 ve always been having this opinion from - I have always not sat­
isfied - for a very long time I wasn 't satisfied with the situation of 
the - of the ANC being non-violent and making too much of its non­
violence and all that - I - I - I - I never dissented - I never said 
anything - I never - I was - I am a disciplined member of the ANC - I 
go by the policies of the ANC , by the decisions, the resolutions of the 
organisation - I ' m a disciplined member, but that does not mean that I 
was cont ent - I wasn't content at all. 

The state was violent against unarmed innocent people, against people 
who '"ere merely saying that we want to be freed - the state responded 
by being violent - there is only one '"ay you deal with a mugger in your 
house , to be simplistic -there ' s only one way you deal with a mugger 
in your house - you beat him down before you handcuff him or before you 
you call for the police - you are not going to run to the telephone 
when there is a - you are accosted by a mugger here - you fight it out 
first before you call for the police - that's just exactly what we are 
doing. 

So as soon as the organisation was banned , discontent now· '"as increased 
first of all the organisation announced that it '~as not disbanding - it 
was not going to change a name - its name from the ANC into something 
else to - to - to exploit that device - we were not going to do that, 
because w·e were going to be constantly banned and.so we'd have to be 
constant - we '~ould now be engaged in - in a struggle of changing names 
and not doing any other thing - not addressing ourselves to the sit­
uation - keep on trying to manoeuvre what name can we use now· - we - we 
'~ere not going to do that - w·e simply went under - we decided '"e were 
goine to go and operate underground, and 1ve w·ent underground. 

But you should understand - you should remember that the situation is a 
little bit different no1v - i t is not as easy as all that to - to - to -
to operate underground as it had been before , and the state was being 
more violent - you get my point - I w~s detained during the state of 
emergency in 1960 for the d uration of the state of emergency - I was 
detained actually on the 30th. March before the - before the actual 
declaration of the state of emergency and the banning of the organisa 
tw·o - two days before then we were - l'lC 'lvere - we were - lve 'l'lCre coll­
ected and put in prison before they ran the lal~ in parliament , the -
what was it called- Native Amendment - it ' s either general amendment 
( •••••• ) Native Amendment, something like that, under which the state 
of emergency clauses came - it was run through parliament very fast -
one day second reading, third day within an hour third reading had pass­
ed and it had gone through parliament , the president had - he was no t 
the president at the time -what was it •••• 

Prime minister? 
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No , no, no , t he governor - governor had signed, and t hen now t hey ,.,ere 
now of course simply off'icialising our arrest, see - ,.,e had been arr­
ested illegally, as i t were , so - but by no\.;r it was quit e ill eg - it 
,.,as quite let;al no\.;r - it was legitimate no,., - you - you see - you see 
the resort s - you. see the lengths they cso to - how do you respond t o 
such a sit uation - how· to you respond to such - I ,.,as detained - and 
let me make this remark , I - you see, for me I don 't always like to 
talk about myself' , especially for t hings of' this nature , where we -
where I k.no,., t his whole t hing is going t o come out in a book or in 
newspapers - I don 't like t hat very much - but here is the situation 
now - I ,.,as 20 years old "i'lhen I was detained in 1960 - in Port Eliza­
be t h I \'las t he youngest prisoner, detainee , and throughout South Africa 
I was one of the three youngest de t ainees - today hO"i'l old is t he young­
es t de t ainee in Sout h Africa - t oday ho,., old - six years old - you get 
t hat situation - it has de teriorat ed - hO\-T do you address t hat situat­
ion - how do you respond to t hat sit uation if' you - you - you - you 
are fight ing for freedom - these are things that led us into taking 
the decision to fight. 

We are as good as dead so i t' s better you - you - you go and fight -
,.,e are not naturally violent people - I - you know, I ' ve - when I came 
out of' prison in 1980 I - I - I owned - at one time I O\med about 1,500 
chickens - I 1 ve never killed a chicken in my life - that's not to say 
I haven ' t killed a human being - but ,.,hat I ' m t rying t o say to you is 
that basically ,.,e are not violent - ,.,e are driven into violence , we are 
forced to respond violently - i t ..... it ' s the other man \-Tho t s violent -
what do I do - do I fool my health (?) - do I run - do I stand on my 
right s that you are no t supposed t o be beating me up - what do you do 
when you walk down the street and you meet a bulldog charging at you -
are you going to stand on your rights and start telling the dog that : 
Listen , I have a right to \'lalk in t his street - no , you don 't do t hat -
t he first thing you tru~e to your heels , or if' you have an umbrella you 
use your umbrella - that is exactly what \-Te do . 

We ' re no t going to stand on - on the morality that you people are sav­
ages , you shouldn ' t be doing t his and all that - no , they are doing it 
that ' s - those are the reasons that led us into forming the MK - I 
j oined - I operated in Port Elizabeth - ,.,ell, in fact I operated in 
the East ern Cape , I can put it t hat way, but mainly in Port Elizabeth 
I did a lot of' other things besides the blowing up of' buildings - I -
I did some other things in connection with administration , in connection 
with the or~anisation - I ,.,orked \dth Hini , I \-Torked with Kayingo and 
( •••••••••• ) 1-Dcha.ba •••• 

Hini , Kayingo? 

Mkhaba - l-1 k h a b a . 

And Kayingo? 

K h a y in go - I worked wi t h t hem - ,.,e did (didn 't) notice that the 
boers were after them - the boers in this case - the police were after 
them - ,.,e did notice this - we sat , we discussed it , '"'e said - because 
t here had been some incidents that took place in Port Elizabeth that 
made us realise t hat these chaps were after these men , and they event­
ually got them - there \\l'as a reign of' terror that was conducted by D.J. 
Card , Donald J. Card , member of' the special branch from East London who 
had come down specifically to deal \dth the ANC in Port Elizabeth - his 
actions indicated that he was after the blood of' those three men - he 
arres t ed a brother - the \df'e of' Zinagile ' s brother , that is Zinagile ' s 
sister in law, Zinagile Hkhaba. 
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Zinagile ' s sister in la't'/ 7 she was arrested , and another girl there -
he went on to arrest a choir - you know, members o~ a choir in - at 
Zakhele , among lvho there were - there lvas a younger brother o~ 1filson 
Khayingo - he went to arrest some girls in Koneker Street in the same 
street where Hini stayed , and he went to pick these people up at the 
police station in ~ew Brighton, and he was ask - he was asking the 
'\'/hereabouts o~ those three men •••• 

And lvhat ' s his name again? 

D . J . Card- Donald J. Card - some time ago he ' s been a mayor in Port 
Elizabeth and some people l'lant to tell me that he ' s liberal - he be ­
longs to the liberal- to the PFP - t hat ' s rubbish, that's bullshit • ••• 

What ' s his surname ho'l'/ do you spell it? 

Card , Card - C a r d - I listened to him in court later on - I was a 
reporter , news reporter - listened to him in court , giving an air o~ 
innocence 'tvhen he \vas giving evidence against some people there - Your 
Worship, I was a stranger in a s t range - in a strange country amongst 
strange men - a~ter he had - he had, you kno't'/' committed atrocities , 
a~ter he had beaten up people , children - one girl '\vas seven years old, 
't'lho '\vas a member o~ this choir I was t elling you about - a~ter he had 
sttspended young Khayingo t s - Khayingo t s young brother in the ceiling 
here , asking him about the lvhereabouts o~ his brother - a~ter he had 
attempted to recruit that girl to working ~or him as a spy to spy on 
the movement s of' Hini , that girl 't'lasn ' t beaten , she - she - he didn ' t 
beat that girl - he only concentrated on trying to recruit her to work­
ing ~or him •••• 

1ofhere '\'/ere you during this period? 

I was in Port Elizabeth . 

So you weren 't detained any time in the country •••• 

N o , no , this 'tvas - this was in 1962 •••• 

So a~ter the state o~ emergency you '\'/ere let out? 

Yes , we came out in September , 1960 , same year. 

And you went right into }~? 

No , no , no , 't'/e ~ormed 1-IK in 1961 - ~ormed MK in 1961 - I - I worked as 
a newspaper man and lvork.ed - operated as a - 'tvell , in the organisation 
I carried out the 'tvork o~ the organisation - 'tve orcra.nis ed the all-in 
A~rican con~erence in - in Pietermaritzburg, '\'/here Handela was the -
Handela became the secretary o~ that and he immediately 'tvent underground 
't'lhich eventually 't'lent out o~ the country - he came here to Britain , he 
\vent to other places - 't'/e ~ormed the ~~ in 1961 , and then we s t art ed 
operating, that's ( ••••••• ) 

When you 'tvere operating '\'/ere your targets only supposed to be buildings, 
symbols o~ the state -they weren 't people initially •••• 

No , we made - l'IC didn ' t want people - 't'IC didn 't 'tvant people - 't'IC didn 't 
want to kill people at the time - i~ they got killed in the process i t 1 s 
just hard luck ~or that part icular one , and 'tve 'tvere not going to go and 
pray f'or him , we lvere not going to go and apologise ~or i t. 
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I ' m not - well, I ' m not talking about mysel:f here - 1ve - we - we simply 
1vanted to destroy ~overnment structures - ,,.e djdn ' t place bombs in peo­
ple ' s houses , in people ' s businesses - '\'le simply placed bombs in admin­
istration buildinas and all t elephones, pylons , the city council - t he 
city council( •••••••• ) o:f:fices and all that- we did all o:f that- the 
raill'lays - that's l'lhat 't'le did ( •••••• ••• ) - , .. e '\'lere very much aware we 
l'lere in the - in the :first phase o:f the struggle, which \'las merely sab­
otage , 't'li thout actually shooting. 

Was your unit made up o:f •••• 

No , I don 't \'lant to talk about my unit •• •• 

I don 't '\'lant the people, but was your unit made up exclusively o:f Afri­
can people? 

No , no, no •••• 

All I want to kno't'l is - because a lot o:f people have talked about that -
I don ' t \'lant anything that's going to hurt anyone, but I ' m just inter­
ested in knol'ling i:f your non-racialism - :for example, I interviewed •••• 
(Tape o:f:f) 

The - the - the }fi( stric - I mean totally non-racial - totally non­
racial- you see- O.K., :first let me give you a bit o:f the background 
o:f the ANC and SACTU - the ANC is the - 't'la.s the head o:f the congress 
alliance - the congress alliance was composed o:f the ANC, the Congress 
o:f Democrats, South African Indian Congress , South African Coloured 
People ' s Congress , South African ConGress o:f Trade Unions -now why 
should there be that separation o:f races - it - :for the convenience that 
they - they live separately - you can ' t attend a branch meeting :from 
six miles away, so specifically :for that , and the other thing is that 
\'lell , there were other quite legitimate political grounds , like :for in­
stance, the - the - the Congress o:f Democrats , the whites had to address 
themselves to the whites , concentrate there, but i-c l'las not racialism . 

Now - but SACTU l'las di:f:ferent because SACTU is an organisation o:f work­
ers in :fac-cories l'lhere they all are there mixed, and there t s no SACTU 
meetina in the location - SACTU meetings - I mean trade union meetings 
are in the :factories at - at "the :factory :floors - no, .. MK opera-ced in 
the same :fashion as SACTU in the sense that "there l'las just no racialism 
nol'l - I mean there l'las no separation in any way nol'l - 1-re - '"e belong 
there l'lere l'lhites, blacks , Indians , Coloureds in - in - in the "t-.OC . 

On the other hand the goal o:f }ll( is a very specific goal o:f sabotage at 
that time, and you lvould l'lant to be involved in whatever l'lay l'IOUld :fur­
ther that goal - you l'louldn 1 t want to do something symbolic - you would 
just - i:f it l'IOrked to have Africans just l'IOrking 1vith Africans because 
that • s holv you could get the target you• d do that - i:f it worked to 
have you hide out in a l'lhite person ' s house •••• 

I - I didn ' t under - I don 't quite understand. 

I ' m just saying I'm l'IOndering i:f being in 1-.0C you experienced non-racial­
ism in terms o:f on the ground - maybe it made sense to just have Afri­
cans in I interviel'ICd Indres Naidoo and in his unit it l'las mainly 
Indians - he uas •••• 

O:f course there '\vere such situations - :for instance, there were very 
many units (Laugh) not that many - there l'lere not -chat many young whites 
as there were units - obviously one unit l'lill be - many units lvill be 
totally black - is that what you are asking? 
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I'm just wondering if' - \vithout givine any specifics that you don't 
want to reveal - i.f you could tell me than in actually operating and 
actually getting the job done , did it actually mean you \vorked with 
people of' other races or \vould you say : \fell , in order to operate in 
P.E . \ve just \vorked \vith •••• 

No , no , no , the -the -let's not lool~ at it this \vay, in order to be 
able to operate let there be all the races \rlthin one unit , no, no, no, 
no - that was not t he consideration - the consideration is the units 
were created - the units \Vere created - thoy - there were very many 
units that \vere just black Af'rican , there \-rere units that \vere just 
Coloured , there were units that had a11 the - all the races - it de­
pended on - it depended on \vhat t he unit \vas f'ormed to do . 

But f'rom your experience , did you gain More non-racialism by being in­
volved with white people , eit her legally above ground or underground -
I'm just \vondering - because in Johannesburg you had the Hilda Bern­
steins and the Rusty Berns t eins and the people \vho \·Tere involved \vho 
were \vhites and Coloured - in Durban you had a lot of' Indians - in the 
Eas t ern Cape there aren 't that many COD \vhite democrats that people 
have mentioned to me that they actually \vorlced ,.,ith - I \'/Onder •••• 

lvai t a minut e - you said there w·eren ' t many COD? 

COD . 

Oh, C 0 D •••• 

Maybe your experience of' non- racialism \'las more \'lorking \vith Coloured 
people - I ' m just \vondering •••• 

No •••• 

Other people have said to me - I can 't remember who it \'las I inter­
vie\ved - I thinl"- it \'las Edgar Ngoyi , who said that - he cou1dn 1 t even 
remember t he names - he \'las thinking and I think he \'Ia~ trying to think 
of' one of' the Levys , but he actually couldn 't think •••• 

We \'lere detained together with Edear ~ goyi , and at one time we were 
charged f'or murder together - we hadn 't murdered - \'le11 , at least I 
hadn ' t murdered anyone - I don 't kno\v about him, but \'le \'lOre - we were 
not sentenced. 

But \'lhat I ' m trying to say is \'lhen he \vas thinlcing of' it - the people 
in the Transvaal \'IOUld be able to think of' the Hilda Bernsteins or the 
Helen Josephs - he couldn 't even think of' a \'lhi te person , and yet he 
was totally non-racial , so clearly his non-racialism didn 't come f'rom 
having worked hand in hand with Albie Sachs - havin(S been •••• 

No , \vhen - \'lhen I - \'lhen I began beine very active in the ANC I didn 't 
\vork \vith any whites - I was in the locations - it's only \vhen I was 
in Ne\v Age no,., \vhere I can say I worked \vith \vhites - there ,.,ere \vhites 
in Port Elizabeth - I ' m going to give you names - there \vere \vhites in 
Port Elizabeth , and again as I told you , that I oh, frequently went to 
Johannesburg \vhen I - as I told you , that at one time I - I think about 
thrice - f'our - three or f'our times I slept at Hilda Bernstein ' s house , 
but the f'irst time I slept at her house , by the way, she ,.,as not even -
they were not even there - the whole f'amily ,.,ere not there, but then I 
\vas there in - in Johannesburg, they \vould phone (?) nobody knew \vhat 
t o do \vith me, until one enterprising guy said : O. K. , here you are , 
come - he w·ent to thr0\'1 me at Hilda Bernstein ' s house , see , and they 
arrived at night and they f'ound me s1ee~ing there, you see , so I told 
them not to interfere \vith me , see , so ~Laugh) 
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You see, so it '\vasn 1 t that - it wasn 't that - my non-racialism didn't 
stem f'rom the f'ac-t that I '\vorked with - with whites - I hadn 't - no, 
I hadn 't - and as you have riehtly observed '\vith Ngoyi , he 's non-racial 
but he had dif'f'iculty even remembering the f'irst whit e - in Port Eliza­
beth there weren 't many - there were - there weren 't many - there was 
Todd Vernon (?) an old •••• 

Who? 

Tony Berman - he ' s the f'ather of' ~1ax Uennan and Hervyn Bennan , Hervyn 
Bennan being one - one is a lawyer, one is a doctor - one is in Kenya, 
I don 't lmow ,.,here the other one is . 

Ho,., do you spell the name? 

Berman - Benntm., but Tony - Tony Dennun '\vas a commtm.ist - there ,.,as 
Lattie , ,.,ho '\vas also a commtm.ist - there '\vas Piet Vogel, just ordinary 
COD member - there '\vas the - well , there '\'lere others '\vho '\ve don 't act­
ually mention - then there was - there ,.,as - there was a - A. F. Robin­
son, ,.,ho ' s just died here in England about t'\-IO months ago - t here -
there '\vere very - HcCarthy '\vas there - there was a McCarthy and there 
was - there w·ere lots (?) 

Who '\vas Lattie - what was the •••• 

Lattie , ,.,ell , I don 't know his - I don 't kno'\v his name , but we called 
him Lattie because he ' s a Lat vian . 

Because he ' s what? 

A Lat - he comes f'rom Latvia, so he was simply called Lattie - Lat t ie 
by everybody, see , so I don 't actually know his name - he may have been 
Lattie in name but I - I don't know about that - I know I - I - I - I 
worked '\vi t h him very much •••• 

So what '\vas non-raciali~m about in the Eastern Cape - everyone says 
t his is the strong area, there's no Af'ricanism, they're so non- racial -
but there's hardly any whit es. 

Search me. 

So did you actually use the word non-racialism ever - do you think you 
discussed it? 

Listen , have you read the Freedom Charter - you had? 

But it doesn 't have the ,.,ord non-racialism in it , and I ' m asking you d:id 
you ever use the uord - maybe it ' s a useless '\vord , maybe •••• 

lfe , the pcopl.e of' South Af'rica declare f'or all the '\vorld to kno'\v that 
South Af'rica belongs to all who live in it , black and white , and that 
no government can justly claim authority unless it is based on t he will 
of' the people as a ,.,hole - what is that - there's no non-racial -
there's not the '\'lord there non-racial , but '\vhat is it - that's the pre­
amble to the Freedom Charter - ,.,hat is it - there isn ' t the '\vord - it 
doesn ' t appear - the ,..,ord non-racial doesn 't appear , but what does 
,..,hat is it - ue uould be very -we would be the - I don 't know what 
can describe us - we ' d be very, very stupid not to appreciate the f'act 
that that's non-racialism (Laugh) so - so - so I -your question is 
very dif'~icult to ans,rer , I want to say that, because one, as you have 
observed rightly that '\ve didn 't '\vork '\vith whites as such- there weren 't 
many in Port Elizabeth, tm.lik:e in Johannesburg and in Cape Town and in 
Durban - there weren ' t many Indians, but there ,.;ere Indians . 
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There w·as ( •••• • • • • •• •••••• ) there w·ero - '~ell , not a lot - in any case 
in Port Elizabeth there are not many Indians , but a sister (?) -no , 
it ' s not the sister - it ' s not the brother of this girl here - the 
Reddys , Pillay, Naidoo , loTho - l'lho - l'lho ' s this dentist - forffet his 
name nol'l - l'lO had quite a- l'lO had quite a f'el'l Indians , but fewer 
still l'lhites in Port Elizabeth, so it ' s going to be- it ' s very dif'f'­
icul t to say l'lhy l'lere 'l'le non-racial because ,.,e - there l'leren t t even 
l'lhites amongst us - if' you look at it in that l'lay, you are going to 
have a difficulty in getting into the right - the anslrer ••• • 

It ' s so hard to mru<e any generalisations because you could certainly 
generalise that the white security police of the Eastern Cape , and that 
the whites generally in terms of the white population is much more 
racist in the liberal Cape than - the Eastern Cape is l'lhere they killed 
Diko - I ' m sure they - that ' s where they • • •• 

Oh, l'lhere the most vicious special branch, yes - yes, yes •••• 

Didn ' t you ever come across • • •• 

I told you I - I said I told you that hatred is not natural - you de­
velop hatred. 

But if you've been tortured by 1<1hite security policemen didn ' t you ever. 

That does not -that's not going to mru<e me necessarily hate the whites 
because of' that , because l'lhenever they torture me there are blacks '\'lho 
kick - l'lho kick harder than the whites there as 'l'lell sometimes - I '\'las -
I l'laS - I l'laS arrested in - I l'las arrested in Zimbabl'le - it l'las the 
blacks l'lho - 'l'lho - 'l'lho - l'lho - l'lho beat me about f'ar more too much than 
the l'lhites , although of' course it ,.,as the 'l'lhites who - '\'lho - l'lho carr­
ied out the - the - the most brutal torture, electricity - ,.,ho applied 
the electricity and all that - electric shoclcs - but the blacks ,.,ere 
just , you know·, punching me about , you see, all over the room , and of' 
course I did fight back, you see, but then that earned me more beating. 

But yo Ll. didn ' t ever have white - blacks who'd been tortured by l'lhi t e 
security policemen who ' d been picked up 't'lho "i'lOuld say it '\'las - even if 
the black kicked it was the white l'lho l'las paying him l'lho said to you : 
What is this non-racial policy, ,.,e must just drive these guys into the 
sea - and just got - that hatred gre'\'l - you keep saying it ' s not nat­
ural, but through the unnatural process of' torture, of' harassment etc . , 
you didn ' t ever see a non-non-racial thing come up? 

END OF SIDE TW'O. 

You are asking me personally did I ever - no,., in South Africa I don t t 
think so - in South Africa I don t t think so , except l'lhat I told you 
about the PAC, what the PAC people l'lere saying - in Zimbab,.,e, yes, may­
be once or tl'lice, l'lhere somebody would say : Ja, 0 .K. , I can see these 
dogs , but they arc actually paid by that bulldoe behind them- you k.no,.,, 
something like that, you see , but even there not so much as to - to -
to be extraordinary, or else to be really noticeable - no, no , not so 
much really - not so much really. 
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I - 1..rell , I ' m t alkinG' about my personal experience - I ' m no t sayine­
t here 1..rasn 1 t anY1vhere else - there is a possibility t hat t here 1..ras 
because , for instance , there are PAC - t here is PAC in Sout h Africa 
who will have that men talit y because - and t hey - in Zimbab1..re t here 
'..rill be people 1..rho have t hat ment alit y ( •••• • ••• ) I - I didn t t meet 
much of it - I didn ' t meet t hat t ype of people . 

Then you '..ren t out and you j oined MK and then ho1..r did you - do you 1vant 
to t ell me about leavinG and what - just continue 'vith your s t ory t hat 
I keep interrupting? 

Well , I came out for milit ary t raining , and from t here ••• • 

You ' re one of t he younges t, r i e-ht? 

In milit ary t raining •••• 

1fere you •••• 

No , no , no , no1..r I '\'las - no , no , no , I 1vas no longer the younges t n ow -
Chris 1vas still younePr t han me . 

Chris Hani? 

Chris is - is younger t han me - he ' s born 1942 - he talks strong t o me 
no,., , you see , but he - he ' s young boy , you see - no , no , no , I - I - I 
don ' t 1.;ant to impute that he ' s behaving here - 1'lhat I mean he - he ' s 
gro1vn up no1.; , you see - he t alks 1.;it h a - a - a deeper voice , you see , 
but he - to me he remains a young boy , you see - like t he wheels of a 
bicycle there - t here ' s t hat saying( •••••••••• ) like t he wheels of a 
bicycle they - they never mee t - t he one in front is al'\vays in front 
( Laugh) - no , I was not the youngest , and I ,.,as even married by t hen. 
(Sound' s bad on this one . ) 

So when 

1963 . 

You were 

Yes . 

And you 

Oh, yes , 
any time 

did you go out ? 

23? 

,.,ere married? 

t hat part - that part, 
and you can marry when 

ja well , that • s ( ••••• •• • ) - you marry 
you are 16 - t hat is not important. 

But did your wife kno,., 1.;hat you ,.,are leavinG for? 

No , I only t old my fa t her to t e l l her aft er I ' d gone , and he did ( Laugh) 
he did. 

Wasn ' t t hat a difficult decision to make , to leave a 1vife a t a relat ­
ively young age to put your life at risk? 

I do want t o appear - ,.,bat - like t he other people and say : Oh, that 
was a very difficult decision t o make - at that age I was recently 
married - but I ' m very sorry, I will disappoint you a bit in t hat - it 
wasn ' t a difficult decision t o make - it 'vould be very , very difficult 
for me to make that decision now. 
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You should remember that I hadn 't lived very much ,..,.ith my ''life , but 
no,..,., you see , no,..,. I ' ve lived wit h her for seven years no,,r, and that 
one it'll be very, very difficult - of course not -not so -not very 
not act ually very di~ficult - even here at present (?) she ' s in a diff­
erent to'm altogether - she ' s in south '\'lest of this country - I mean 
north east, diametrically opposed - I moan dia~onally opposed - no, 
diagonally •••• 

Opposite? 

Opposite , ja, so no,..,. - and she - and I haven 't been '\'lith her effect­
ively for b-1o years now, since 1985, see , so it won ' t be t hat difficult , 
but it w·ould be far more difficult that - than ,..,.hen it t han what it 
was in 1963 - I did - it - I did of course think about it , t hat now 
here 's this girl- I brought her home here and now I ' m leaving her, 
and I ' m not even doing her t he decency of telling her that I ' m going 
a'\.,ay - but let me say to you something that one Zimbabwean once said 
,..,.hen we ,..,.ere in prison , that ,..,.hen a man is "fighting for his country 
he ' s mad - doesn 't care about any other thing - he cares only about 
his country - I loved my '\'lif'e , and I still love my wi:fe very much but 
( •••••• ) and '\'/hen I '\'las in prison I '\rould also think about her, but 
,..,.ell, I ,..,.ould still take - given the same situation , I '\'lould still do 
t he same thing- I ' d still go away from her, you see , I - I love her 
very much, and I'm no t even the type to mess around- O. K. , O. K. , you 
see - ,..,.ell , she doesn 't believe t hat one anY'-1ay , you see (Laugh) - I ' m 
not even the type to - to - to - to mess around , you see - I love her 
very much, but given t he same situation again , I '\'/ill leave her - I 
'\'lill leave her - if she - if she - it ' s up to her ,..,.hat t o do there­
after - ,..,.ell , '\'lhat she did t hereafter '\'las that she stuck a t her home 
then until I came out in 1980 - she came to Zimbab'\'le and we ' ve been 
together since , so it wasn 't such a difficult decision - not to say 
that I didn 't think about it - I did , but it '\'lasn 't a difficult dec ­
ision - listen , I had t o fight - I had to fight . 

lve had to fight , and who ' s going to do the fight ing for us if we are 
going to start thinkinG" about oh , my lovely younc '\'life, oh - oh, my -
I can 't live 'dthout - you can 't .- you ' ve got to fight - nobody 's going 
to do the fighting for us - we want to be frr-e - '\'lho ' s going to free us 
we ' ve got to free ourselves , so that's the main consideration really­
maybe that's making myself a little bit - '\'lhat - ,..,.ell , no t a ( ••••••• ) 
O.K., O.K., you can ask another question (Laugh) 

vfuen you left in 1963 was it some particular thing that made you go or 
'\'las it just you ,..,.ere recalled (?) that this '\'las the time to go for 
training, and you didn 't get particularly upset about some t hing and 
make a move you '\'/ere just under discipline at tha-c poin-~.. •••• 

Both, lady, both - I was arrested for a totally different thing alto­
gether - we '\'lent to Uit.enhage - well, not a di:fferent thing - not a 
different thine; - I '\'len t to Uitenhage - I '\'las in the company ot' Zola 
Nqini - ,..,.e ,..,.ere going to do something there - '\'le '\'/ere going to do some 
,..,.ork there - as soon as I entered - I happened to cross a street '\'lhich 
happened to be a boundary be t ,'leen cen to'm - city centre and the be­
ginning of the locations - as soon as I crossed that s t reet the special 
branch in - in - in Ui tenhage ,..,.ere ont o me - they had been follo,'ling us 
right chrough - we hadn 't noticed t hem - one squint-eyed chap called 
s,..,.anepoel, he ,..,.as in the compnny of about six blacks - he ,..,.as t he only 
whit e - he ,..,.as in t he company of six blacks - he said : Ralph, you have 
entered a location without permission, so you are under arrest. 
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I said : What locC'ltion, I haven ' t entered a loca - he said : This is 
the boundary - so I was arrested, and then - 1ve11, that 'vas on a Fri­
day - on Saturday I 'vas sentenced - I don't remember the lengt h - I 
had only two pounds in my pocket - I couldn't pay the fine - I was 
sentenced - 've were separated immediately 'vi th Zola N qini and he was 
taken to be detained under the 90 day detention la1v •••• 

This is 'vhat year no1v? 

1963 - so I was sentenced - then on - on Sunday I 1vas transferred to 
Port Elizabeth, and on Honday I was there, on Tuesday I 'vas ( ••• • •• • ) 
and then I went -.:;o the to1vnships in -.:;he evening - I 'vent -.:;o -.:;he -.:;own­
ships in the evening, you see - I - I sneaked out of' the place where I 
was - I 'vas sold (?) -.:;o •••• 

What do you mean you 1vere sold - you mean your f'ine 1vas paid? 

No, wha-.:; happens is -.:;hat t-here is - in South Africa there is the system 
that 1vhi te farmers and all can buy prisoners, take them - remove -.:;hem 
from prison and keep -.:;hem in their - in their farms and make them work 
for them - no1v I 1vaq not c:old to a farmer - I was sold -.:;o a wardress 
1vho worked in that very prison - no'v she stayed in Walmer - Walmer sub­
urb in Port - of' Port E lizabeth, so I got to her house on Tuesday, slept 
there and 1vorked - oh, a devil of' a 1voman, jees - no, I don t t want to 
meet -.:;hat 1voman - I really 1vould never 1vant to meet that 1voman, because 
should I meet her thereafter I - it will be very difficult for me t o 
convince you that I am non-racial (Laugh) or -.:;o convince you that I am 
not a woman - a ,.;oman 'vhac - beater - it 1vould be very, very dif'f'icul t 
for me to convince you of' those after the meeting that woman, no I - I 
cannot convince anyone after that . 

I slept there on Tuesday morning, on Wednesday - Tuesday night - on 
Wednesday night I sneaked out , I ran to the loca-.:;ion and I -.:;old -.:;he 
chaps that - where I 1vas and 1vhy and what had happened, and -.:;hen I go-.:; 
information that the police were - the special branch 1vere hunting for 
me - something had happened that had connected me with something that 
had happened sommvhere (Laugh) so now· I was searched by the special 
branch and there uasn' t coing to be a question of' a 90 days detention 
no1v the police didn t t kno1v that I was arrested , I 'vas in prison at the 
time (Laugh) - that 'vas a lovely one for me - let me look for ( •• •• •• ) 

(Tape off') - story. 

Oh, I see , yes - the police didn t t kno'\v that I had been arrested, so 
the chaps told me - no1v I didn t t want to come out of' South Africa, I 
didn ' t - ,.,e had already sent out some men - I took the stand that they 
1vould come back and train us inside the country, but then the chaps 
confronted me 'vith the situation that viz-a-viz they 'vould not be res­
ponsible should I be arrested , because they ' ve ,.,arned me, and that the 
the chances - and there ,.,.asn t t going to be a situation ,.,here I was 
going to go for a for detention - I 1vas simply coing to go for trial. 

I was involved in a number of' things, one of' which was o little bit 
serious, more serious - I had been involved - no,., they 'vere ht.mting for 
me - they had gone to my - to my home - and I went to see my father 
later on , you see - my father told me also that they have been -.:;here -
in fact they actually hFid placed somebody arot.md the house , you kno,., , 
patrolling around to watch out for me - of' course the chaps had already 
told me of' this, so I kne'v that he 'vas there, see, so I first had to 
seek him out and locate him before I 'vent home. 
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Defore I w·ent horne, because -well, to, you kno,.;, approach my (?) - I 
mean entering our - our yard by- at a friend ' s side (?) - different 
dir~ction altogether - so I ,.;ent horne - my father told me that the -
they w·ere actually lookin{! for me, and "'O I said : 1vell, O.K. , I t m 
going back - so I -.;.;ent back - that 1\·as on - on a W'ednesday nicrht, as 
I said - I ,.;ent back, I worked the -.;.;hole day, and then in the evening 
I -.;.;ent a-.;.;ay - I ,.,ent to the - I wen't to N e-.:.; Brighton - I - I wen't horne 
first, I packed a bag, a small bag, and I hid it some1.;here within my 
horne I told my father that :O.K., this is it- and he said: Good­
bye, here'~ JOO rand- I said :No , no , don't ,.,orry, I have money and 
I'll be bouc:ht ticket (?) -I mean I ' ll be given money by the organis­
ation - my father said : Hey, 'take 'this JOO rand and c;o, I lmow the 
ANC (Laugh) - and he kne,., it , you see. 

So I went a'vay, you see - I -.;vent to - to the contac't, and that began 
the process of moving out of Port Elizabeth - I didn ' t move rie-ht a-.;.;ay , 
same - same - same -.;.;eek - I remained for - I remained 1vi thin Port Eliza­
beth for t-.;.;o w·eeks, and I ,.,as damn busy in t hose 't"tvo ,.,eeks - I -.;.;ould 
hnve been arres'ted - then ,.,e lef't - 'to Bo'ts,,rana by round abou't route 
and to Tanzania, and then to country 'then back to Tanzania, back 'to 
Zambia and into Zimbab,.;e. 

This is - ,.,ha't year did you go in'to Zimbab,ve? 

1 67 - 1967 - 1ve '\<Tent to fight in Zimbabw~, Sipolilo , no't 1vankie - 'the 
whole opera'tion is lrnmvn as 1{an'tu (?) opera'tion, bu't now I was in 'the 
Eastern Detachmen't - in 'the detachmen't 'tha't operated i.n the eastern 
part of' the country. 

What ,.,as 'the de'tac11rnen't called, Lutuli •••• 

Lutuli De'tachment, yes, but i't was formed of two com~anies - I was in 
'the company 'that operated in 'the - in 'the ,.,e s't - in 'the eas't, I'm sorry­
the o'ther men fought in 'the - in 'the wes't in Wankie, 1vankie area ( •••• 
•• ••• ) -we ,.,ere 'tO join 'the figh't (?) l<Ti"(;h 1,he English "(;here •••• 

The -.;.;ha't? 

We had a jolly f'ieh't with the English • • • • 

You mean Rhodesians? 

Rhodesians, yes - we existed in the bush f'or a long period and we 1vere 
caugh't (?) one by one, O"(;her fell, o'thers had the oppor'tunity 1,0 go 
back to Zambia - '\vc 1vere nic-ely sen'tenced ( ?) - I told - I spoke my 
rubbish in court and I 1vas sentenced - we 1vere - ,.,e were released by 
by ~Iugabe in 1980 and so I ' m here now, but I lived there f'or three 
years 'thereafter, and 'then I wen"(; (;O Lusak.a and no1v I ' m here - I ' m going 
back I don ' "(; lmo-.;v 'vhcn, bu't I don ' 't like Zambia - no, i "(; ' s not 'that I 
don 1 't like Zambia - I don ' 't lil<e workinc; at - where - in proximity 
proximi'ty 1vi'th 'the headquar'ters "(;here - I don ' t like i't, al'though, as I 
say, I don ' 't con'trol my - my life so - bu't I very much am going 'tO 'try 
and avoid Zambia if I can. 

Tell me, you- in 1 67 - 'the longish period you exis"(;ed in 'the bush­
abou't ho'v long '\vas 'that? 

Nine mon 'ths. 

Nine months? 

Oh, yes , o'thers - 'there - 'there ' re 'three o'ther - one, 'two , 'three - 'there 
were 'three o'ther men 1vho carne as close as (?) 't\<10 years. 
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Sipolilo is it 1 s chaneed now -near 1-1hat is i t exactly? 

The east - do you k:no1-1 - but Sipolilo is actually t he to1m n01-1 - itt s 
in the Doma •••• 

It 's 1-1here? 

In - in Doma . 

Ndoma? 

In Doma - D o m a - but ~ha~ 1 s ~he Shona pronuncia~ion - ~he Zulu area , 
the area 1-1here Huc;abe comes from - Mugabe, Chinamano , Chikarema , they 
come from that area of Moun t Darwin - do you know where :t-1ount Dar1-1in is­
that 1s the area- Doma, :Hount Darwin, Lions Den, Hangula, Sipolilo , you 
knOl-l , that area - it 1 s nort h east to1-1ards li'ayrer (?) - tOl'lards the cor­
ner 1-1here meets Zimbab,'le, Zambia and Hozambique - tha~' s our area. 

To be there for the nine mont hs, wasn 't it a problem no~ spea.kinc; 
Shona or had you learned •••• 

Oh, yes, it 1-1as - it - it - it - i t was a problem- no , I didn 't, but 
we - 1-1e lived in the bush - i t 1-1as a problem because l'IC - we , the South 
Africans, couldn t t simply c;o a.monc t he people unless they 1-1ere already 
kno'tm to us - 1-1e had - it - our Zimbobl'ICan who - 't'lho 1-1ent ~o comrades 
to - to - to the local people - i t was - it ' s a big difficulty, but 
,;hen there - they 1-1ere no t so much - the other Zimbab't'leans amonc;st our­
selves 1-1ere not so much better off - you see , if', as 1-1e 1-1ere , in t hat 
ret;ion, operating in that reeion, as soon as you show· yourself up , l'lhe­
ther you t re Zimbab1-1ean or South African - as soon as you show yourself 
up you are the attraction, see , you - everybody knol'IS tha,; you are a 
stranc;er because everybody knows each other, everybody kno1~ everybody 
else - your clothes, ,;he first thine;, your wear - your dress, your 
at t ire , you knm-1 - people there(?) at tha,; time- you kno1'1 1 that's 
the farmine area - people are in tattered overalls and so forth, you 
see - they are dirty, they are muddy and all that . 

So no1'1 whenever 1-1e go to villac;es , see , 1-1e t d sort of spruce ourselves 
a bit , you see, so that immediately taKes us out of' the norm, you see , 
so you are recognised as soon as you appear, to be a stranger first and 
foremost , and then of course the - it 1-1as quite easy for anyone to con­
clude that here ' s a terrorist ( •••••• •• • ) so it 1-1as a bit of a diffic­
ulty but it 1-1as not - not that very mucb really to - to have caused 
problems in operations , no , not so mtlch. 

( ••••••••••••• ) - the 1-10rd for terrorist in Shona 1-1as? 

( ............. ) 
Ga.ndanga - but you didn t t 1-1ant to spruce yourself' - you uanted to look ••• 

Even if' you didn t t 1-1ant to spruce yourself up your - your clothes sold 
you out. 

So even those Zapu cuys had the same problem? 

Of course 1-1e had a similar type of clothinG - I mean you - your clothes 
are (?) good clothin~ - if I presented myself there no,., as I am , every­
body sees that oh, he ' s a stranc;er. 

But you ,.;ouldn t t be l'leari:ng that clothes for your time in the bush, 
1-10 uld you? 
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We had a li -ctle bi "t bet t er - "\'o'e had over - 't·re had - ,,•hat • s t his - un i­
f'orms , but t hen ue had bett er muf'-ci - you know· muft i - you know, the 
civilian clothinG - it's type of' clothinG - w·e had - 't'le hrtd I mean 
generally better than - which gave you be"ttor appearance t han the ord­
inary •• •• 

Uas t hat a mistal<:e? 

I-c 1vas , but 1.,rhat could ,.,e do about it . 

So you had to rely on the Zapu people to go and get f'ood from t he 
villrtGers and •••• 

1¥e also w·en"t as l ong as ,.,e kept quie t (LauGh) 

As long as you didn ' t use speech? 

1fell , yes , as long os ,.,e kept quiet •••• 

1Yi th them you 1vent (?) 

Well, 'tvhilst , .. e w·ere among t he people. 

And were they ,.Tdebele or Shona people - 't'lero the Zipras Sindebele 
speakinc or Shona speaking? 

Bot h . 

And did - was t here any"thing you noticed about - did t he Shona speakers 
e-et better received - ,.,ere t hey more - bett er received than the ( •• • •• 
• • • • • • • • ) be cause it ,.,as a Shona area , rit;h"t? 

:Host of' "the time the people - the person ,.,rho 't'iOUld be speal<:ing - t he 
people 'tvho 1.,rould have chosen - select ed to speal<: wi"th "the locals ,.,ould 
be people from t hat reGion 't'lho spoke the dialect , so -chey - there was -
you see , 't'li"th people in Zimbab1.,re - you kno,., , I speal<: Shona, 1: speal<: 
Ndebele , but as soon as I open my mouth in Dulalvayo - as soon as I open 
my mou-ch and speal<: NdPbele you ' ll find , you lmow, somebody asking me : 
Are you Fingo - meaninG do I come from ( ••••••••••• ) - do you knO'\'i ( ••• 

••• ••• ) -you don ' t kno,., ( ••••••••••• ) - i -c ' s abou-c 25 miles eas"t of' 
Bula1.,rayo - i-c ' s predominantly FinGO area - nou 'li'inGos are Xhosa people 
lvho came to the country in - in 190 2 ,.,i -ch Cecil Rhodes , you see - "they 
are still there - they speak my dialect and they - "they speak like -
spealc as T speak , even if' they speak - '\.,rhen "they speak Shona ( ••••••• 
••••• ) Ndebele all - everybody knows oh, -chis one is no"t actually Nde­
bele , he ' s FinGo , you see, so -chere ' s ah'lays that dif'f'icul,;y every­
,.,here , so uha"t 1ve did ,.,as whenever ,.,e sen"t people - l'lhenever lve ,.,en-c 
"to meet people lve simnly used people 'tvho came from t;hat; ree;ion , bee -
1ve ,.,ouldn ' t; use a Shona from Vict;oria province - t;hat; is Masvingo no,., 
we lvouldn ' t; use somebody from chere - 1ve 'tvouldn ' t; use somebody f'rom 
Manicaland , because he l'lould be speaking a dif'f'eren -c dialect; alt;o ge t;her­
-chey would simply kno,.,, so ,.,e used -co t;ake on people '\'lho came from L.hat; 
area ,.,rho spoke the same dial ect;, you see, so -chere were no dif'f'icul-c ies 
because of' that; - it; 1 S just -cha "t well, t;here lvere dif'f'icul"Cies in t;he 
sense t;ha"t 1ve ,.,ere lmolm t;O be guerillas and lve - "they received diff­
erent; recep-c ions - t;here uere different; recep-c ions in dif'f'eren-c areas , 
some people 'tvere afraid of' us , some people didn 't; want; us - t;hey hat;ed 
us - some people '\'lan"ted us - so i "t jus t; depended on - on "the people we 
me t;. 

There would be nice ( ?) si-c uat;ions ,.,bore somebody was askinG you a dir­
ect; quest;ion and you had "to answer so , buc you didn t t; lmo1.,r Shona, so 
you looked at; - you simply looked at; him and looked at; "L.he comrade you 
would who lvould have been select; ed t;O do t;he t;alking , and simply keep 
quiet; - you wouldn ' -c say (?) - and ,.,alk alvay, you see . 
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So in order f'or you no"t ,;o - bu"t ,;hen "there - ,;here liTas ano-cher sligh,; 
problem - no,; very much - "there "'ITas ,;he ques,;ion of' complexion - sligh,;­
ly dif'f'eren,; - sli~h,;ly dif'f'eren,;, bu,; -cha"t - no"t much really •••• 

Sligh,;ly ligh,;er? 

Yes - generally yes, mmm, bu,; no"t much dif'f'eren"t - no,; much in -cha,; 
line as "to pose -che problems l~e you encoun,;ered in "talking , you see 
so ,;ha,; "'ITaS ,;ha-c. 

Bu,; '"ere - liTha,; liTere you "trying ,;o opera,;e agains"t - "there obviously 
would be some peopl e who "'ITere pro-Zipra and "'ITere receivin~ and "'ITere 
being ,;he kind of' mujibl'l suppor,;ers, righ,;, and "then "there "'ITOUld be ,;he 
people "'vho liTOuld - you "'vere "'vorried would -cum you in "to the securi,;y 
forces , right - you. didn t "t "'van"t informers or you didn ' "t "'vant ,;he chief's 
who "'vere sidine on -che governmen"t -co repor-c you, rieht, bu-c did you 
ever cncoun"tered someone "'vho suppor"ted Zipra or snppor"ted ,;he s-cruggle 
,;o f'ree Zimbab"'ve bu"t though,; "'vha,; are these Sou,;h Africans doing in i"t 
"'vhen they sa"'v you "there •••• 

"\vas ,;hat because ,;he y never go-c to knou ,;here "'vere Sou"th Africans - did 
you have a - I dont-c JrnO"'IT how you ' d describe "the in"termediary, if' i"t 
"'vas a muj iba or "'vha"t i "t "'vas, bu,; •••• 

No , t hey were not called mujiba a,; ,;ha"t ,;ime -no, no, ,;hey "'vere no"t -
"they "'vere no special names •••• 

AnY'vay -che s uppor,; er of' ,;he s-crugglc "'vho "'VVUld bring you to ge-e f'ood, 
who liTO uld arrange f'or things f'or you •••• 

Mos t of' "the f'ood "'iTe a "te we stole ourselves - lV'C didn ' "t ge,; f'ood f'rom 
people - we simply "'ITent ,;o "the farms and grabbed f'ood and went -co cook 
f'or ourselves mos,;ly - generally - ,;here w·ere very f'elv occasions "'IThere 
we '"ere given f'ood by ,;he locals - "'vha,; "'ve "'vanced f'rom ,;he locals was -
we were recrui"ting t hem, tha"t's all, and training them, and yes, we 
would - lve require some things like, f'or instance, liTe liTOuld want cloth­
ing - wet d c;ive t hem money to go and buy us clothing, or sometimes "'ve' d 
give them money to ~o and buy us some-chine; "'vell, f'ood , if' we "'vanted to 
buy f'ood, but most o~ the time we simply fed ourselves off' the farms 
at t he "t ime "'vhen I vas there maize had - you kno"'v , had ripened - had 
very bie crops of' maize , and there "'vere pumpkins , but t hat "'vas later 
on after "'ve had began fighting and •••• 

.Aside f'rom the food , the people you dealt witl , and t'hen you would be 
dealing "'vith t hem about recruit men t mainly - when somebody looks away 
f'rom you - when you don t t "'van t to be t alkinr; - w·hen you "'vere trying to 
look away so you "'ITouldn t t have to talk to the person - I ' m jus"t wonder­
ing- there's one bottle to ge t qomeone to qupport the ~uerilla movement , 
there's onP battle to :figure out "'vho you ' re going to recruit, right 
there's one '\YaY o:f fi~nrin~ out "'iTho ' ~" c;oing to suppor"t you, but I ' m 
wondering once you fic;ur~d t his person ,,•ould Sl1pport you, '"a~ t here 
ever anyone who "'·lould say : 1fha t' s e;oing on , you have Sout h Africans 
with you - did they knO"'IT what A'TC was - did you get that f'ar? 

(Laugh) Youkno"'v ( •••••• )- .O.K •. ( •••••••••••••••••• ) you' ll understand 
( •••••••••••••••••••••• ) bu"t t h1s - "'vhenever "'ve - we cross we already 
have a contac"t in fron t - "'vho to con"toc"t - you t;et my point . 



'1. . 'HZAHO . PAGE J4. 

R. H. 

J . F. 

R. M. 

J . F . 

J . F . 

lie are not coming t here as invad~rs, ns foreigners or anyt hin g - we are 
comine t here - lve have Cl name of a contact - 've have been ~iven '1 con­
t ac t - go and contact so- and-so - he has also be~n briefed t hat ~e 

should expect us, so then there ' s no probl~m in t hat - so as soon aq 
we mo.ke contact lvi th t he person , if he is not arres t ed - t hat is if he 
hasn 't been de t ained prior t o our appearance - if lve make contact wi t h 
him things are a little bit easier , so l\'e - 1ve t alk - 1ve t alJr our busi­
ness 1vit h t he person and i t - perhaps beyond (?) t he second , t hird meet­
ing that he 1vill realise t ha t t here are South Africans , but genera lly 
such cont ac t s 1-rere peopl e who 1vere act ive Zapu members from before . 

Now t his i~ one thing you mus t know - Zap - the - we were juqt Zapu a t 
t he t jme - 1ve 1vere - i t had not been named as Zipra a t - a t t ha t t ime -
1ve tverc simply Zapu soldiers - no1v t here 1vere people 1vho had been prim­
ed (?) before , lvho had been me t before , '\vere t old , and t hey would of 
course 1vhen - 1'/henever now t hey discovered that t here 1vere Sout h A:fri­
cans 1ve would explain of' course, yes, t herP are Sout h Africans - I am 
a Sout h .African , he is a South African , he ' s a Zimbo.b1vean , he ' s a Zim­
babwe"'ln , 1ve are all Zapu - "'e are not hc>rp as A c , no - for~et about 
\NC , but 1ve ' re not - we have not come here t o join Zapu , become members 
of ZAPU- we ' ve simply co~e t o :fight , that ' s all , that ' s our business 
our in t erest is to fic;ht - we don 't - 1ve don ' t want to be citizens in 
t his country , '\ve don 't wan t t o be mf>nrerq o:f Zapu , we ' ve just come 1: 0 
figh1:, 1:hat 1 s all - we are Sou1:h Africans , we are con1:rib - we - we 
regard SotHhern Africa as oppressed , we - it is - Zinbab1ve - "Rhodesia 
is a~ (?) oppressed as Sou1:h Africa is oppressed - ic ' s jus ~ one form 
of oppression , so 1ve - our business is to libera1:e 1:he Southern contin­
ent - 1ve never had any difficul1:ies abou1: t ha1: - 1ve never had awkward 
ques t ions , we just got co- o p eration. 

You 1vould recrui1: 1..rho he recruit ed - he bronght him 1:0 us - i 1: was lef1: 
t o us again t o 1:ell t he people t ha1: : I isten , 1,here are Sou1:h Africans 
here - and 1:hey all kne,., , 1:hose 1vho ,.,e recruit ed - 1:here was of course 
the diffi cnl ty t hat at one - one or t'\vO places, each 1: ime lve go t 1:here 
the - 1:he - cbe con ~ac1: 1..ras already in prison - he lvas in de1: en1: ion in -
in - in Gonac-udzingl..ra , you see , so 1:bines ,,rould be - 1:hings would be a 
bit alvklvard a t t ha t t ime , because no1v 1ve lvonld have 1:0 go back 1:0 ano 1:her 
one some1vhere , perhaps a person you had already - invariably a person 
we would already have had contacl: wi1:h - go 1: 0 him to use him in t his 
part icular area where t he con 1:a ct is arres t ed , so you know, and ask him 
t o - t o go there and seek for Zapu people he kne1v. 

But '\vhere were t hese conversat ions going on when you had t o avert your 
eyes and t ha1: people might no1:ice you bad a differen1: complexion - lvhal: 
people versus - viz-a-viz which people lvere you '\vorried about not le1:1:in g 
your South African English or non- Shona or accent come out? 

lvell , 1ve - we crossed villages . 

So t hat l..rould be '\vhen you encoun1:ered people? 

Yes , t ha1: would be when lve encoun1:ered people some1:imes we - we are 
avoiding a village and we walk a l ong a river, 1ve come across some lovers 
(Laugh) you see - you see, so that ' ~ an a1vlqvard situation- some1:imes 
1ve - 1ve - somet imes 1ve happened upon farm labourers, farm workers -
"t: hat' s an a1.,rln.,rard sit uat ion •••• 

But did you ever ge t any feeling from t he Zapu contac1: s when 1:hey go t t o 
know aft er t he second or t hird meeting 1:ha1: 1:here 11ere Sout h Africans -
did you feel t hat 1:hey 100 percen t supported t hat line of we wan1: to lib­
erat e the sub-continent, or did you t hink t here were any who t hough1: 
wai 1: a minu1:e , 1vhat ' s t\NC doing in t his or 1vhat are t he Sout h Africans 
about or - or but Sout h Africa , t hey ' re richer, "t:hey ' re •••• 
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Ah , no , "liTe did - no , "liTe nev er en coun't ered 'tho 't - and you 'TIUS t r emember 
aaain t he 11adio Freedom in Zambia wo~ opern't:inc- f'ul l b l as 't - Chikar ema 
was t a l kinc over 'the radio almost 'twice a "11Tcek. - 't'\1Tice , 'thric e a '"e ek , 
and so - and in any case i 't eo 't on 't o be lmo"lm by 'the '"orl d 'th at 'there 
'"ere some - 't••e - t here '"ere ANC people who were opera't ina 'there , s o i t 
Wf'S no 't such a secre't - i 't was no't such a secre't - 'the 't~Torld knew we 
were t here . 

Radio Freedom of Zapu or A~C ? 

I now ca l l it the Radio Freedom - i 't wasn ' 't 11adio Freedom a 't 'tha't t ime -
no , no , i 't '"asn ' 't any'thing - i 't - i 't simply wen t 'to Zambia Broadc as t i n a 
S 'ta t ion and broadcas t i t - we didn 't t he r e '"asn ' 't Sou'th Africa - I 
mean 'there w·asn ' t Radio Freedom in •••• 

I t was - it was f'or t he Zimbabwe Zapu - i 't '\1Tas for people '\~Tho were 
support ing Zapu t o li~ 't en 'to ? 

1¥ell , people who ( ?) '\Wuld have radios and 'they - t hey lis 'te n ed 'to 
Zambia t o 'the •••• 

Bu't i t was t alkinG' liberat e Zimbabwe - i t '\ITaS advo c a 'ting 'the libera't ion 
of Rhodesia- Zimbabwe- i 't wasn ' t about Sout h Africa •••• 

No, no t about Sout h Africa. 

Dut did Ch~arema ment ion on t his •••• 

Oh 1 yes - oh, yes he r1en t ioned some - a t one t ime he - yes , yes , yes , 
he did - yes , he did , and a t one t ime he - he - he j ust wen t on and on 
t alking rubbish - I ,.,as a l ready arrested a t t he t ine . 

So '"hen you w·ere - you said t hen you began fieht ing - so you were act­
ually t here and you ac t ual ly did fight - you did have encount ers '\1Ti t h 
t he securit y forces before you were ultimat e l y capt ured or arres t ed? 

I didn 't have 't-.rhat ? 

You did have some encount ers , milit ary encount ers '"it h t he securit y 
forces •••• 

Oh (Laugh) yes - yes - 't1Te had clashes , yes - yes , yes , yes , llC fough t -
as I told you , t hat some men fell do'\m , some were captured - '"e ( ? ) ,.;ere 
capt ured one by one - some had t he opportunity t o run back t o Zambia -
the chance t o run back t o Zambia , 't-.rhich 't1Tas very, very slim, which '"as 
very , very small really , because 't-.rha t they - '\~That the - t he - t he sec­
urit y forces did 't~Tas , as soon as we ,,•ere inside t he count ry and we had 
start ed clashes 'd t h t hem, t hey simply 'tvent t o S'tvim (?) off t he Zam­
bezi , so t here ,.,a~n ' t no - t here wasn 't a chance t o - t o run back even 
if you '"'anted t o run back , you see , so you simply had to be t here and 
fight and fight i t out , but t here were of course some who - 't-.rho - 't1Tho 
w·ere lucky 'tiTho - '"ho '\ven t back, and of course there - '"e did get ont o 
a sit uation 't'lhere w·e did send some back and we ac t un.lly had found a 
point '"here - a way by '"hich '"e could send them back - t hey did - t here 
were not many of those we sent back - 1ve '"ould send somebody back for a 
part icul ar purpose , no t j us t going hack becquse i t 't~Tas t ough , no , but 
for a particular purpose - yes , t here 'tiTere those "liTho '"ent back - t here 
were a lo t who fc 11 ( ? ) - and t hen we '"ere capt ured one by one , as I 
said , and where (? ) '"e - we - we did inflict casualt ies , a great number 
of casualt ies among t he - in t he enemy security - in t he security for­
ces . 
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There "'vas a nice situation in court - you see , t he nf'w·spapers a t t h<:l t 
t ime "'vere tryinG to play down our effect - the casualt ies and that 
among the security forces, and t hen all of a sudden when I come t o 
court I find t hat I - I ' ~ charged for murdering 87 people - I said 
No , no, no, no , it cnn ' t happen t hat 1vay, man , it can ' t - I mus t have 
killed only about three - for t he 1vhole period I ' ve been here I ' ve 
killed only three - according t o radio and t hn ne"'vS paperc; I killed 
t hree - I don ' t kno1v "'vhere t he other 8h came from now· - "'vait a minu'te , 
let ' s e;o over it ne;ain - and t hey t houc-ht that I was trying t o be funny 
(L'\ue;h} - "'vell , they said so - you see , so there 1vere casualties amone 
t hem, " big number, and "'ve had •••• 

1fh~ t "'vas too truth, 84 - 87 or t hree? 

Well , there - there "'vere far more 'than 'tha't - there "'vere far more than 
t hat - added 'the 1·lnnkie , the •••• 

1-lore thnn which , 87 or three? 

W'e w·ere charc;ed "'vi 'th my c-roup - we "'vere charged for havinc; nurdered 87 -
tha't does no't mean 'tha't ~:;here were only 87 who fell among ~,hem - we "'vere 
charged wit-h having murdered 87 , and there "'vere more than 170 "\rounded 
'tha't is not 't aking - they had t raced 'thP opera'tions in "'vhich my c;roup 
had been involved in , no't 'the whole opcra'tion - only ~,he clashes they 
said 've 'vere involved in , some - 'they missed some , 'they added some -
'there "'vere o'ther clashes 1 and that ngain does not include 'the numbers 
in Wankie , 1fanl<:ie t he "'vorst - if you were 'to add all of' 'that number 
"'vill come - can - "'vill easily come 'to 200 , 250 . 

And \vere 'those all - 'those sec uri 'tY forces , \vere 'they all "'vhi "t;e , were 
t hey all 11hodesinn , "'vere '{;hey all - ,,rerf' "t;here some So u'th Africans, 
were 'there some blacks ? 

All - black and "'vhi 'te, Sou"t; h Af'rican and Rhodesia - from Sou"t;h Africa 
whi 'tes only , in Rhodesia black and "'vhi'te . 

Going back 'to your :t-1K ins"t;rUc'tor who said you mus 't develop a hat;red for 
your enemy - when you "'vere figh't ing 'those ba't'tles did you h.a't e 'those 
security forces ? 

Well , of course I did, and I s 't ill do . 

Did it have any"t;hint; 'to do wit h t hem beinc; 1,rhi'te South Afric ans? 

No , no , no, no - no - no , no, no't a 't all - I ,,as figh'tinc; securi'ty for­
ces - t hey "'vere composed of black and whi 'te - there - t here ' s no way 
,,here you are eoine; 'to 'try and choose whi 'te faces in 'the fores 't 'there -
I ' m shootinc; a t "'ovhit e faces - 'the black face amone t hem is shoo 't ing a 't 
you - you are shoo'ting a 't "t; he enemy and mos't of 'the 'time - yes , mos 't of 
'the "t; ime you don ' 't even see , you simply hear cunshot s , you 'take cover, 
you shoo t in 'the direc'tion in which 'the fire had come , and la'ter on 
you - 'then you posi'tion yourself properly un'til you can see where 'they 
are , how - ho'\v - ho'-v - holv many t hey arc , ho,,r are 'they disposi t ioned , 
and "'ovha"t; are 'they carrying, wha't 'type of c;nns "t;hey have, wha"t; - hol,r have 
t hey displaced, ho'\v have 'they emplaced their e-uns - and t ha't 1 s what 
happens - 'then you ~ 'tar't figh'tin c- i't ou't - you are no't going 't o be pick­
inc; and choosing whi't e faces - and sometimes you are no 't even going t o 
see a "'vhi'te face 'there - t hey have blackened 'themselves so - so \vha't 
are you going t o do . 
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In nny case that 1 s not - th~t ' s no t w·hat 1.ve are thoro f'or , t o be pick­
ine out - looking f'or 1.vhi te faces , no , no, no , no - you are shoo t ing 
a 'C 'C he people 1.vho are shoo'Cine a t you , or yon are ~hootinc- a 'C people 
1.vho you see firs t - 'Chey haven ''C even seen you - you shoo t - if' t hey ' ve 
seen you f'irs t t hey shoot, if' you ' ve seen 'Chern f'irs'C you shoo 'C - 'Chat 
that's t he business you1 ve eone there f'or- that's- 'Chat - I mean as 
~imple as all 'Chat. 

When you 1.vere finally captured was it in a battle or 1.vere you arres "C ect? 

No , no , no , I f'Pll in'Co - not - i t 1.vere after some bat'Cles , but I f'ell 
into an ambush - I "'.ofas crossing f'rom one point to - 1.ve 1.vere 'C"'.vo - we 
1.vere walkinc; .from one point to ano 'Cher point and then 1.ve met some of' 
these chaps - 1.ve mot a eroup where 1.ve hit it out 1.vit h them and we - we 
separated , you see - he t ook a different route , I took a different way 
we didn ' t meet - and then I walked f'or a number of' days until I f'ell 
right up into a - an ambush - a t t his time I 1.vas nearer t--1angula - I ' m 
sorry , nearer - nearer Cen"Cenary - I "'.'las in the area of' Centenary a'C 
'Chis time wl en I 1.\."as capt ured , I 1...ras - I f'ell into an ambush - it was 
in a hill , you kno1.v - in a hillock- these chaps 1.vere there - I didn't 
see them, I- and I suppose my mental alertness had lessened a bit ( ••• 
• • • • ) because 1.-:ell , I should really have been more careful - I wasn 't 
I suppose it "'.vas because I hadn 't been eating f'or 18 days or something 
like that - I 1.vas tired and all that nonsense , and I simply f'ell into 
an ambush , that t s all , and they caught me - they t ook me to - to Doma, 
and f'rom Doma they took me to Hangula, f'rom Nangula trc.msf'erred to - to 
to - to Karoi.. - later on 1.ve ,,•ent to Salisbury. 

Were they interrogating you along the 1.vay or •••• 

Oh, yes, yes , yes , oh God, yes - ye~ , they were. 

And did they send South Africans up f'or that or they 1.vore already there 
waiting? 

There were South Pfricans , but the special br~ch f'rom South Africa came 
later on - there w·ere South Af'ric - there 1.vere South - 1.ve 1.vere fightinG 
a:;ainst South African soldiers and Zimbabucan soldiers - I mean Rhod­
esian soldiers in Phodesia - they ,.,erP there, they ,.,C're in units. 

END OF SIDE ON ~ • 

• • • • interro~ated you - 1.vas there any sense that they had that - that 
they 1.vere threatened by the idea th::~t t"'.'iO different - I ' m sure they 
asked you a lot of' things, but I ' m interested on the focus of' was there 
any sense - maybe there 1.-:asn ' t - of' them be inc; threatened by the idea. 
that t here ,.,ere tuo dif'f'eren t groups of' black people fighting together, 
because the line of' the regime is that blacks - the black dif'f'erent 
ethnic groups , the tribes will never get together, and that they ' re -
that's what they ' re counting on - or did that not emerge- did( ••••• • ) 
that that upset them specifically •••• 
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(Laugh) They w·ere - t hey ,.,ere - yes , they lo~ere - yes , ,.,e ac t ually - ,.,e 
ac t ually suffered for t hat - I mean t he Sout h Afric ans ac t ual l y s uff ­
ered for that - yes , t hey lo~ere - t hey didn 't l ike our part i c ipat ion 
in that s t rucele one bit - t hey said a l ot of thinGS t hat I don 't care 
to repeat, I - ja, t hey didn 't l ike our part icipat ion o t all. 

But did t hey say( • • ••••••••••••••• ) - did t hey say anyt hing that spec­
ifically illuminated t hat, like what are you doing here , go back t o 
your Olm count ry , thece euys ' ll se l l you out or t his or t hat? 

Yes , yes - oh, t hey did th~t cons t an t ly , ricrht throue;h. 

Saying lvhat? 

Why - lvhy do you fie;ht here - ,.,hat business have you c-ot here - you 
are an intruder, you are an invader - t hen they lvould tal<e on a diff­
erent line - ano t hf'r line , like for instance , Zimboblo~enns can 't :fight , 
you are the only people l\•ho are doing a lot o:f f'iGhtine here and , you 
k.no,., - you kno,., , some t hing like that - 5omethinc to t hat effect - i t' s 
the old enemy tactic of trying to drive a ,.,edge amon~ - bet,o~een you, 
see - it didn 't have effect - i t didn ' t have ef'fect - they didn 't im­
press us one bit - they did not i mpress us one bit - t hose Zimbabweans , 
I ,.,an t t o t ell you one t hing , I bloody ,.,ell respect t hem - lve came off 
our own I like t elling t his bit. 

lfe came lve became men in - in a fi~ht 1 but lvhenever ,.,e ,.,ere walkine , 
hell , the Zimbabwean~ lvalked , man (?) - those men are strong - basic­
ally - lo~e11 1 perhap~ t his may no t really be scientific , but basically 
because ~enerally 99 percent of Zimb~blo~eans come from t he rural areas 
even -chose lvho lvork in -co,ms , weekends chey ~o -co rural areas - a -c 
plant ine season t hey go -c o t he rural areas and work t here - -chey are 
rural bound, rural orient a t ed, and i t makes chem used -c o lva!Ying l ong 
dis t ances and they are bloody well t ough , I can assure you - I - I re­
member, you kno,.,, I used -c o marvel a -c them really, used - we ,.,ould 
l-lalk for a long dis-cance and t ake a break, and as soon as ,.,e s -copped 
as soon as ,.,e s -cood np t o - t o - t o cont inue t he march , I w·o uld look 
a-c -chem , I would :find - ,.,ell, I w·ould be eiven t-he impression t ha-c 
-chey ' ve jus -c arrived from Zambia (Laueh) 

lve became - ,.,e became men only in ba-c-cles lvhere we f'oueh-c - we fought 
very ,.,ell , bu-c in "1-lalkine dis-cance - par-c icularly myself' , I don 't ,.,ant 
t o place myself in a sit uat ion - I mean I don ' -c 1-1an c -c o pain-e a eood 
pict ure of myself in 1-1alk.ine - no , I lvasn ' t. - I ,.,ould simply jees , man 
(?) - I 1 m not a GOOd long dis t ance "1-lalker , no, no , in spi-c e of t he :fact 
t hat I ' m a good runner - I ' m a very eood runner, but "1-lalk.ing l ong dis ­
t ances , aG, I don 1 t l ike i t. 

And 1-1i t h all t he 1- ime you spen-c -c oge-cher and ,.,i -ch all the t ensions and 
all the deprivat ions , did -chere not ever emere;e t imPs ,.,hen -chere ' d be 
a kind of e t hnic - l-Jhere t here ' d be somebody resort ing t o some kind of 
oh , t hese Sout h Africans can ' t ,.,alk , or i t' s t he Sout h A:fricans faul t 
or you - t here "1-las any kind of •••• 

No , no , no , no - no , no t t ha-c way, no -c t hat ,.,n.y a t all , but I wan -e t o 
t ell you one 'Ghing - l·re quarrelled in our beadquart ers mee t ings - some ­
body put s a line and somebody disagrees, not because he ' s Sout h African 
or he 1 s Zimbabwean - he disagrees for a rea.,on - ,.,e - 1-1e - lve - ,.,e 
l'lould quar"'el, w·e discussed - t ake -coo lone discussing only one issue, 
come up t o a decision , go and l'lork , and l·re ,.,orked marvellously. 
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R.M. Thn't doesn ' 't mean there ,.,eren' 't dic;nereemen'ts no,., and acain, no't be­
cau"'e ,.,e were - '\'le never di c'ta'ted 'to - 'to the - the firs 't 'thing is 
you - '\'/0 - '\'/C - '\'/0 COUldn t 't dic'ta't e 'tO 'them hO'\'/ 'tO ffO abou't opera-cing 
F.llld all tha't - this ,.,,_s 'their coun'try, ,.,e '\'/ere conscious of 'tha't -
'they kne'\V' their coun-cry be'tter, or 'they '\'lore supposed -co an}"V'ay - -chey 
didn ''t ac'tually very much I mean know 'tha't region - mnny of 'them didn ''t 
knO'\V' 'that recrion reolly - i.n :fac't all of 'them - 'there ,.,as only one man -
I forget his name, Pa'trick somebody - his brother is s'till here in Ene­
land - his bro'ther is a priest some,.,here here in Encrland - he t s - he 
came from S ipolilo - he ,.,as 'the only one 'to come from S ipolilo - all 
'the o'thers came f'rom sou'th, so 'they '\V'eren t 't actually eood in - -chey 
didn 1 't ac'tually knO'\V' -cha't recrion , bu't 'then of course we didn ' 't dic'ta't e 
'to 'them and -cell 'them how -co conduc't 'their s'truggle - our business was 
'tO figh't • 

I wa;q in the hea !quarters 'there - I ,.,as in 'the commander - the comman­
der was a Zimbab'\V'ean - he had to be a Zimbab'\V'ean - because you' 11 un­
derstand that even if tl:le - t he - the - 'the numbers of the detachments 
even 'though 'the numbers of' the de'tachments accept us they ,.,ould ace -
they could - the·y ,.,ould have accepted a South African commander, but 
no,., we are not aoine there in order to vrork only 'vi th the members of -
of the detachment - they '\vcre goine to people there '\vho are not eoing 
to understand the situation, so they uould like to sort of - they would 
like to communicate '\vith somebody from that area -you'll get that in 
South Africa - you '\vill go't that in South Afri.ca - you '\'/ill act that 
in the Transvaal , get that in the CisKei , get that in Venda , you see. 

So you have to have sonebody '\vho COiitos from that area '\V'ho '\vill be doine 
a lot of communication ,.,ith the people there, you see, nnd then people 
are sort of no,.,, you kno,.,, not disconcerted, not alarmed by 'the fact 
that they have to deal '\'lith, you kno,.,, "'ort of foreicners , I can put 
; t that '\'lay - and you are a foreigner in Zululand i:f you come from 'the 
Ciskei. , you are a foreigner in the Cifkei if you come from Vendaland, 
do you understand me - so there wasn 't a question '\vhere among ourselves 
we disagreed becausE' he 1 s a Zimbab'\V'ean - there '\vasn ' t such. 

Listen, '\ve '\'/ere mature politically - this is what you 1--:nO'\V' - mus t knou 
about the AJ'TC people - .AFC cadres arc matured - '\ve '\'lere trained - we 
received political trainine - I - I ' m very sorry to have to say to you 
that that was not much - that did not happen very much after our group 
after Wanlcie operations - the Zanu chaps , for instance, '\'/ere not so -
·w·ere not trnined politically, and even in Zipra there '\vas not much -
there '\vas not much poli 'tical training - now· but that is - the bas is 
of' a cuerilla movemcn't , it is 'the political 'training of' -che cadre - '\'le 

don 't just '\'lin by - '\ve don 1 't - ,.,e are no't jus't f'igh'tine by pulling the 
'trieger and releasine the bulle t, no - we also have to '\'lin people -
hearts and minds - they usually like sayi.ng tha't in 'thic; country - '\vC 
h~ve to '\vin 'their hea-rts and minds - '\'le havo to '\'lin the people - you 
c'U1 't ,.,in people from on empty shell - ,.,ell, if' you are empty politic­
ally - you have - you have to kno'\\1 '\vha't you are fiehtine abou't - you 
have -co be able 'to tell the people w·hat '"e are f'ieh'tine for , '\vhy we 
are f'ightine , 11.0'\'1 '\vC are fighting , '\vho you ~re - '\'lhy they should con­
tribute - so ,,TO '\vcrc Mature - we h'ld a very eood sound political 'train­
inc; of' our cadres- ,.,e weren ''t (?) jus't- '"e didn 't come from- from­
:from - from the eut'tcr. 

I've just told you that I ,.,as a reporter at 11ome, '\vhich eave me a lot 
more money thnn Mnny- than- than any( ••••••• )- i't is f'ar more above 
'the averac-e - let me pu't it 'to you this 'my , 'the - 'thf' average wage 
of' a black '\YOrker ( ?) in a factory, for ins'tance, '\vas 't'\vo pounds seven­
t e-en and six a '"eek - -cha't is abou-c ,;hree pounds - -chat mkes it. 12 
pounds a mon "h• 
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At; t;he raib-mys they lvore - t;hey lvere c-c tt; in,:; - people lvere ge t;t; ing 
t; en pounds a mont; "l1 - nolv I ' ve jus t; told you t;hat in -e,v Arsc I l..ra s 
get; t; in{S 25 pounds , but; before t;hen I had been get; t;in~ 33 pounds - I 
lvas rse t; t;ing a lot; of money , but; nolv •••• 

I l..ras cet; tinrs i t; a mon t; h - 33 pounds a mont;h - lvhen t;he average person 
c;e t; s t;en pounds , 12 pounds 1 I l..re~s get;t ing 33 pounds - in New· Age I 1..ras 
ge t;t; inrs double t;hat; - T lvas get;t; i n £'" 25 pounds a mont;h , a ll right;, O. K., 
bu·c now I ' m s t;ill very far low in - in rel<Hion t; O our loaders - l ool' 
a t; l\iande l a - ~Iandela ran -che firs t; leeal - 1-he firs t l alv firm in Jo ­
hannesburrs l..ri t;h 'l'ambo - he lvas - t;hey lvere rakine i.n oodles and oodl es 
of mon ey , s o t;hey didn 't; ac t; ual ly have t; o f'ieh t; simpl y because t;hey l..rcrc 
ac t ually hun,<Jry t;homselves, but; vhey lverc - t;hey lvcre fight; ing because 
of' t;heir conscience - lve f'ought because of' our conscience - we didn '" 
come from t he gutter w·hat; - by which I ' m t; rying t o t ell you t;hat; lve 
were mat; ured , lve lcncl..r lvhn t; we were f'ight; ing for , you see , so t;here was 
n o qnes t; ion lvhe-re I ' m eoing t o s t;art quarrelling over l..ri t h you because 
you are lvhit; e - I ' m rsoi.nc- t; o s t art quarre l ling wit;h you because you -
you are Sizulu, or you are Ndebe l e , or you are Sout; h African , no , no , 
no , - w·e disagree - lve were putt; ing a point; agains t; 1vhich - I mean a 
point t;hat; I don 't; accept so (? ) you have t;o convince me - I 1 m putt ing 
a point, I have t; o convince you - I mus t;n t -c s t; ring ( ? ) - and t;here never 
lvas a sit uat;ion lv"l1cre T t;hought; t;hat; you lvere di~aereeing wit;h me be ­
cause I ' m Sout h African - no , t;here lvasn 't; such - t;here lvasn tt; such ­
our very - t he - lve l l , I l..ran t t o confine mysel f' 1vhen - lvhen I say t;hat; 
nolv T ' m confining myseLf 'to 'the Wankie operat; ion , all right;. 

Our group 1..ras ma't urod - our croup lvas ma't urcd - t;hc bro t;her of t;his 
girl( •• • •• • •• •• • • ••• ) was 'the chief o:f securi'ty o:f Zapu who( ? ) had 
left; t;hem in- in 7ambia - you l<nolv Domiso Dabcncwa (?) - he - he ' s 
just; been in and out o:f t; rouble of' la't e nolv , but; he ' s out; now, I - I 
underst<llld he ' s employed - 1..rorks f'or a government; depart ment; or some ­
t;hine - you l<nolv Doniso Dabengl..ra , ja •••• 

That his sist er? 

He has a sis t;er here - 'this - t his gir1 l~o ' s seat; ed here - ( • ••• • •• ) 
spec'tacles (?) 

So just; le t; me - one -ching I :forgo t; t; o nsk you Dbout - 1..rhen you were 
put; up on your court; charges what; lvas tho charee exact;ly? 

:t-1urder. 

:t-1urder of' 87 , with all o:f you t oget her? 

l\1urdor. 

And is your court; statement an~..rhere t hat; you ' ve ever seen i 't recorded -
you made a s t; a t; ement in court; •••• 

Oh, yes •••• 

•••• I ' m sure i t; wasn ' t rubbish. 

I t; lvas just tall-cine a lot of' •••• 

But is it in ( ••• • •• • •••• ) book - is i t; in any book ever? 

There is a bit of' i't in , yes - there is a bit of' it , yes , there is. 
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I~ ' s lovely you should remember ~hat because - I have to ~ay here , by 
~he way , and I have ~o- tomorrow' s Thursday and I can ' ~ !=ee in~o (? ) 
~omorro,., ' s election day - nobody ,.,an~s ~o be '3een by anybody ~omorrow·, 
so I ~hink on Friday I 1 ll make means ~o see him- I ' ll ~ravel back 
home on on - on uunday - ei~her on Sa~urday or Sunday, so I have to 
see him - I ' d forcrotten now·. 

He kno1vs - I • ••• 

We have met - \lTC have met •••• 

I used his book a lot - in face he - I met him once - I told him I like 
the book - \vhat 1 s it called again? 

I don ' t remember the title - I - I - I have it some1vherc in there ••• • 

I actually never - I had to use it from a library - so I can find it in 
( • •• •• • • •• • • ) book? 

Yes , you ' ll find my name in there (Lauch) 

Did they ehanc;e the name? 

There ' s a very, very bicr.problem , by the ·hray1 1'lith me- that you r.ust know· 
1fuerever I am I have a. d~fferent name (I au.ch) so tbat ( •• • •••• ••• • • • ) 
so - so that ( ••••• • •• •••• • ) are not c;oing to c;o into it , but vherever 
I am I hove a different name altoeeth.er (Lou...:;h) so you have a problem 
there - yes , in South .Af'rica I'm Tlalph Nzamo, here I am Ralph t-1zamo , 
but "'lvhero - anY\·rherc else beside., those t1'lO countries I - I - I ... so • ••• 

rut \vhat "'l·m.s the statement about and I ' 11 f'ind it - just tell me - be­
cause I remember those statements quite w-ell. 

It ' s a lot of junk, I don ' t remem • ••• 

Please just tell me "'lvllat • •• • 

I don ' t remember it very , very much, you see , but there was somewhere (?) 
where I did ac:;k 1·rhat - w'hat does - I 1vant to - I don ' t remember "'lvhat 
appears actually - I said a lot of thinc;s - I don ' t remember actually 
"'lvhat appears in ( ••• • • • • ) book - I ' 11 try and remember it - I ' 11 try 
and remember it so t 1·wt I kno,., what I said in court and I mean "'l'lhat 
appears in Kies (?) book (Tape off) I don ' t - I don t t kno"'lv \vho (?) 
in the telephone bool~. 

So you made the statement and you - what 1vas the trial - did they try 
in the trial at all to try to say these blacks 1vere fic;hting together 
but they actually have di:fferent intere::;ts - did that come out at all , 
any of' t~is divide and rule , put the ,.,edGe in , or did that not emerege? 

That one w·ill alway~ be there - always - Fherever you are - in the 
forest, in the police stations , thE'y \vould mal..:e that attempt - in pri­
son the warders they 1vj 11 mal(.e that nttempt - in - in - in court they 
will make that attempt - in prison again aftf'r you have been sentenced 
they 1·•ill make th-,t attempt of trying to sort of create divisions am­
ongst you - they 1vill do that - you. c;et a que~tion like : You are a 
Sout h African , "'lvhat business of - do you have here , you - you ans,ver 
him Oppression - he says : You are not oppressed in Zimb::tb"•e , you -
you you ans1vcr him: Of course I ' m not, I- I d.on ' t live in Zimbabw·e, 
I ' m oppressed in Southern Africa . 
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Lis~ on , I ' ~ cosmopolit an , I - I - I don '~ care ~or ~he imperi~tis ~ or 
coloniali!'" ~ borders - A f'ricel is all r~ine - you ' r~ no~ ,3oin,:- ~o "t €' 1 1 me 
1vhere to stay, lvh<"'re to :fieht , what t o do - basically I nm opposed t o 
your tellinz me 1..rha ~ ~o do - who ' c; placed you ~here - ~horP 1vas a t im0. 
in court I asl~cd o. rr ., l'lhat aut hority did ~he magis ~ra"t e have - ~he -
"the - ~he judce hav,. bPcause one - :for one thine 1..rc - 1ve - he ' ~ empl oyed 
by a governmen~ :for '\'lhi c h w·e did no~ vot e - I did ask again ano"ther 
ques~ion : How is it that somebody I ' m :fighting agains t happen - t hen 
becomes "the man 1vho is ~he j lldge - I did aslc "th<l t, yes , I - I - we 
:figh~ "toge"ther - holv do I come up holv do you come ~o a si"t ua"t ion where 
no'" you arc coing ~o be "the judge - you see , such ques "t ions like "tha "t, 
t hey always arose , you sec . 

There - on the o~hor hand , "they did "try "t o say : No, "these peop - "these 
So u "t h African - in cour"t "they didn ' 1. say "tha"t , "tha~ ~he Rhod - i "t lvere 
"the police before "then ,.,ho lvere saying cha"t "the Zimbablveans lvere no"t 
fie;h t inc very much be "ore you happened, you see , so you are - you see , 
we lvere - "they lvere t ryine t o say we were people lvho lvere , you kno1..r , 
lve l l, O.K., very bad people , I can pu"t i "t ~ha"t way - and "they did "t ry 
t o solv tha~ among ~he Zimbab,vean chiefs (?) - they didn t ~ '\'lin - 1-hey 
didn ' ~ win- as I said ~ o you , we disagreed occasionally over issues ­
didn ' 1. mean "Ghal. 1vc disagreed because e "thnj c division, you know - be­
cause lvell , I came from Sou"th Africa or I disa~eed lvi~h him because 
he "\vas N debele or I disagreed - 1-hcrc lvere "J debeles , "there lvere Shon as , 
t here lvere - t here lvere - t here was - "thorp lvcre ourselves - "the Zulus , 
Xhosas , So ~hos , Tslvanas . 

And you should remember ano "ther fac"tor in ZiMbablve - in Zimbablve again 
"there lvere Shona!'l , t here lvere 'Ndebeles and ~h0ro 1vere So"thos , you see 
"there lvero Jr arangas - Karangas and Zuln , Hanica , Karanga, Kalangas , 
Zizuru, ?ranica and Shangaan , "'Ndebele , so - bu"t ~he police did ahvays 
t ry t o make "Ghat, you see , but t hey - t hey never succeeded - ~here ' s 

no lvay lvhere ~hey ever succeeded. 

So ~he wholE' ~ime you lvere in prison you don ' "t ~hink t hat y o u had any 
exacerbat ion of your differences becauRe of the e t hnic fac"tor - no­
body ever 80t pissed off if you ( •• • •• • • • •• ) go back t o Sout h Africa? 

I can only t ell you one t hing ahou - as far as tha ~ is concerned - i "t 
i s lvhen lvO were in prison now in Khami lvhen "the - "there lvere a lo t o:f 
people from different organisa~ions - people from Zanu - and lvho always 
said '"e l'lere mercenaries - yes , ~here lvere people lvho c:aid "Gha t, lvho 
said lve lvere mercenary l'lhen t hey were t alk inc; n.bou~ us , no "t peopl e -
no "t Zapu people saying t hat we lvere mercenaries - but ~hen you shoul d 
reMember "tha"t ther~ arc very big differpnces bet ween Zapu and Zanu -
t hey never go t on along t oget her - t hey arc no"t gett ine; on along t o ­
ge t her jus t nolv, you see , Ro - in t he same "\..ray as ~he - t he - "the -
t he - i t - ~hey arc not unique - ~hey are not ~he only people "to have 
s nid t hat about us - ~here t s PAC people in Lusaka - I knocked dolm one 
bas t ard "there one t ime before I '..ren t - I crossed over , because "the 
Wankie - t he vlankie de t achmcn"t c rossed before '"e crossed. 

Now· i~ came ou"t in the newspapers , and then PAC lvere in"G erviewed by t he 
press - lvcre t hey c;oine; t o - t hey lvere askin,3' if they lvere going t o 
send some South Africans ~o e;o and figh t a.lont;side Zanu nolv th~ t Zapu 
had accept ed ~.rc to f'igh~ alongside in Zimbabl..re - in Rhodesia , and PAC 
said ~hey lvere no~ int eres ~ed in sending mercenaries - t ha"t was PACs -
~ha"t' s Sou"th African organisat ion - lvha~ I ' m "tryinc to say "tO you is 
that i "t 1 !" not only the Zanu people lvho regarded us like tha.~, and t here 
were not even many o:f t hem lvho thoueht t hat , you sec , lvho said t hat. 
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1lell , I don ' t lmo1v '~·'rat they thoueht , 111hat they said uhcn they ,,•ere 
( •• •• • • • ) because they "'..rere - they - they - they stayed , you know, 
separately from Zapu people - no"'..r I don't lrnm..r "'..rhnt t•10y 1•ere sayinG' 
in their private meetincs or "'vhen they "'vere talkinc; alone there , but 
they didn ' t - there 1..rere not many of' them "'..rho said 1-1e "'..rerP mercenaries , 
but PAC people !"aid the same thine , nnd I had to lmock do"'-m one in 
Lusalca. 

3ut do you. ever fee 1 1vi th all the problems there ' vc been bet1veen Zan u 
and Z"l.pu that that mi.:;ht be somethinG' that "'·IOuld happen in the South 
A~rican ~trugcle? 

The question is (?) thnt "'..rill there be similar problems 1 oh , well •• •• 

I don ' t thin]~ there ' ll be directly ( •••••••••• ) problems currently (?) 
but do you think you ' ve seen f'irst hnnd p'T"obl~ms - let me just c::ay 
in that there is ~orne cthnicity Lehind Zanu £~nd Zapu, 1..rhich nobody 
denies •••• 

There is a bit of it , yes. 

That bit o~ it , aside f'rort t he ideological and that experioncP that 
they h'ld that "'ITaf" dif':ferent and all th~t, just only on the ethnic and 
also just the geocraphic"'l - there ' ~ a lot o:f non~f>n<:Je like the people 
"'..rill say lHre that the AJTC t s Xhosa dor:tinated, ,,•hjch one- could say for­
get that , but still there are people ,.,1 o live ~ar f'rom anotl1er part 
of' the country - there a'T"e people who ' ve never been to Natal "'..rho are 
in the Eastern Cape, and that dif'f'erent experience f'rom di~~erent area 
and the different ethnicity f'actor itself' - you don ' t think that "'..rill 
ever be a problem in the South African struccle - you ' ve seen it in 
the Zimbab"'..re struc;c-lc - you "'..rere i.n a Zimbab1ve prison - you say you ' re 
non-racial ••• • 

It "'ITill be quite naive of' me to say tl'>at there 1..rill not be such a pro­
blem, but I 1..rnnt to c::ay this - generally such situations are fostered 
by people , other people - of' course by other people , leadership , f'or 
instance ••• • 

You ' re not sayinG' they ' re caused totally - you' re sayinG' they ' re "'vor­
sened by - you 1..ronldn t t •••• 

They - they are caused Jy ceneral - c;enerally people - I ' ve just told 
you - I ' m trying to tell you that my philosophy is that people are 
nice except ,.,hen there comes along somebody "'..rho tries to mess things 
up - c;enerally people don ' t bother - T - I remember ~ f'riend of' my 
uncle - my uncle didn ' t spealc Sotho - he understood Sotbo very ,.,ell -
this friend of' my uncle didn ' t speal~ Xhosa - he understood Xhosa very 
"'..rell - they sat toce-ther, they drank their beer, mqombodhi , 'l.nd they 
conversed ~:qortbodhj •••• 

lfuat t s tl1at , brother to brother? 

No, no , the name of' the beer, Nqombodhi - they dranl-· toe-ether , they 
carried on t"'..ro, three, four hour convcrc:::ations sit - sittinG' toe-ether 
there , each speakinG hie:: languace - gen<'rally pPo.,)le arc like that 
until - until a RoG'er comes alone to say : This is a "''lrong si ... uation 
altoe-ether, you see. 



R. HZANO . :PAGE 44. 

R. H. 

J.F. 

R. N. 

J.F. 

R. H. 

O. K., havine- said t hat I ' m no1; sayine- "t; ha"t; people are actually very, 
very sophis ticated - no , I ' m no1; soyine 1;hn1;, bu1; lvhat I am sayint; 
is "t;hat t here '\vill be elf-!ment s in Sou1;h Africa lvho lvill w·an1; vo say 
1;ba1; .PH" '3 Xhosa dominated, M-: C ' s Zulu domina"t;ed , 4"\1'(' ' s So1;ho domin­
a "ted - "there uill bP - 1;herP lvill ahvays be , becausP "their jn ~;eres" 
is 1;o cause - 1; 0 SOlv chaos wi 1;hin "the Ar'"C - i 1; - i 1; ' s 1-0 1;heir advan­
"t;age, i "t's "to 1;heir in1;eres "t; - I mean I - I - I have "t;O aclmowledge 
t he fac 1; ,;ha1; - 1;ha1; i1- lvill - 1;hey are fi[;'h1;ing me - 1;hey lvill use 
any mean~ 1;o "try and lvreck me . 

Du-e I l..ra.n-c ,;o say 1;ha"t ac;ain "to you 1;hat if '\'le were eojne -co look a"t 
people because 1;his one is Zulu , 1;his one is Xhosn , 1;his one is -chis 
1;ba"t, can I osk you a ques 1;ion - which presiden1; of t he .ANC l..ras Xhosa 
1;bis is off "the record , but lvhich presiden i; of 1-he AN'C lvaS Xhosa? 

I don ' 1; knolv , none. 

All rieh"t, I ' m no"t goine- uO ansl'l9r 1;ha 1; - I shouldn ' "t be askinc; 1;ha1; 
ques tion - i "t ' s lvronc -co answ·er 1;ha-c ques 1; ion bPcnuse i 1; - i1; sugges1;s 
t ha1; I have l ool<:ed a-c 1;his , which is 1;rue, I have - le-e me ask you a 
second - a collary (?) qnes t ion "to 1;ba1; one - l'lhich presiden1; of che 
J\!ITC "'·as no 1; popular a "t any time because he happens 1;0 be Sotho or he 
happens -c o be Zulu - w·hich presiden-c l'lOS no G populnr a "t; his t ime - if 
you can ansl..rer "that ques t ion you l'lill have ansl'l9red your ques t ion . 

So you ' re sayine 1;ha"t i t doesn ' t affec1; -c ~int;s viz- a -viz 1;he mass per­
ceptions? 

E1;hnicit y doesn ' "t; co~e in"t;o i 1; really - in 1;he end - a t -che end of "the 
day, no, i t doesn ' -c - t here will be people of course lvho l'lill "try and 
SOlv discord - t here l..rill be - you l'lill ah'ln.ys have aeent provoca"t eers 
by ac;ent provocat eers I mean people liTho are l'lit hin you hu-e l'lho are 
workine "t;O -che in"teres t s of your enemies - t hey may havE' been sen"t 
direct ly - I mean consciously - t hey may be lvorkine con9cious l y for 
"tha t part icular purpose , -chey may be l'lorld.nJ' tmconscio Uf' ly, j us -c con­
fused elements - you lvill always have 1;ha-c problem. 

Bu"t hnvine said all that, T do no"t believe "that i t l'lill be as bad as 
i t is in Zirnbabl'le - I do no"t :for one momen"t believe t hat - I don '"t a"t 
all becau~e - ~articularly becausP peopl e in Sou"th A~rico nre , very , 
very different - very, very different and - "tha"t is "the firs "t "thine -
"the second "thine- is "that - and I' m goine "to keep on harpine - I ' m goinC' 
1;0 repca"t i "t nolv time and t ime and a[;ain - the second thine is "that "the 
MTC "teaches poli "t icnl undcrs t andjng - lve don 't say : No , my business 
ie "the eun, I have no business wi "th poli "t ics , poli "t ics is Tambo 1 s do ­
main , my business is t he ["tm - l'le don ' t say "tha t - liTe "t each pe-opl e pol­
itics - lve ljO "tO "the pPOple , lve ask "the people - YOU SOC 7 for ins"tance, 
I ah'lays like "to say "this in Bri "tain - l'lhen I nddref's people here -
t hey ( ?) l'lere askinG people to - "to impose sanc"tions ac;ains"t Sou"th 
.A:fricn - tha"t lve didn ' "t - i t i~ not t lle people who nrc in the comfor"t 
o:f exile , people like Tlalph 'Izamo , liTho are asking- for sanct ions - i "t is 
no"t "the leadership o:f "the ANC "tha"t is asking for sanc"tionP - i 1; is no1; 
la~t yoar or yenr · e:fore las"t or in 1972 that lve have asked for san­
ctions - i t is t he - it l..ras t he people of South .A:frica in 1960 who 
asked for sane - lvho nslrcd "the liTOrl d - it is t~1e people - lve are merely 
re:floctinc; the w·ishes , the aspirat ions of t~e people - lve are merely 
carrying- out t he mesc; a eo o:f t he people o:f South P. frica . 

N Ol·T that is lvhr1 t tho A :rc has ahvays been - "the .Al'TC ' s fed back - is fed 
from bclolv general ly all the policies - I think I've j us t illus t ra t ed 
that by telling you holv t he Freedom Chart er lvas l..rri tten - no - no comm­
ission or committee snt and s t arted lvrit i.ne; a document , you knol..r , a 
draft 'tvhich lven t on t o be - to - t o - to be endorsed , no , no , no - it 
came from the masse9 , from t he people . 
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That is - t hat is exactly t he A'C - that is t he - the - the - t 'hP soul , 
the bein3" of thp ... ~-c - tl1~t is ho1v i t operat es , as a result of 1·•hich 
there is no ,.,.,Y 1.;here it is going t o re - it if' GO inc to stop that and 
alloF people to be cnrri<'d by, you k n o1·1 , malcontent s , people 1vho are 
c;oing- t o try and sov dif' cord amone people - no , 1ve c;o t o t he people and 
1ve t each the people , people - and once people are in t he ANC t hey a r e 
mat ured. 

lfhat sentence did you ce t in your t rial? 

lfhat sent ence did ev~rybody eet? 

I don ' t lrno\vo 

Deat h .fOU cross t he river \vit h a c;un , you are - you are carrying a 
gun - '\vhP. t her you choot or you- you hnven 't shot, your int ent ion ic 
t o c;o and shoot - you are t herefore charced Ltnd<'r section under chapter 
36 , which has a mancta t ory deat h sentence - once t he judge has f'ound you 
c;uilty hP. -there ' s no o t her sent ence - if' 110 ha.~ found you not guilty , 
he lets you c;o - there is no way he ' s uoing- t o find you not guilty , 
because you are auilty by just havinc; a ~un and crossing t he river -
have I ans'tvered your ques tion? 

So you \vere sent enced to deat h in 1967 or 19 •••• 

t 68 - comnitted t o life imprisonment and t hen •••• 

Com.11ut ed.? 

Conunut ed - oh , lvell , the - the - t he e;overnment, t he Smit h aovernment. 

l·fhy did they commute it? 

In 1968 t hey 1vrre preparin~ - lvell , I - t hat' s my conclusion - t hey 
1vere - in any case it ' s a :fact t hf'y 1vere endeavouring t o - t o - t o - to 
to have talks 1vith the Brit ish aovernment under Harold lvil~on in order 
t o li:ft sanctions , so they - and in - and - and acnin in 1968 t he 1vhole 
1vorld 1vas clamourinc for us not to be killed - pressurco.s were make -
exert ed all over - nnd Smith decided t hat be:forc he '\ven t to the Tiger 
t alks , to 1vhere he \vas c;oinc; t o go and t-:tll-c with Harold lfilson , he 
probably vnnted to mollify , you '3ee , so by - say : O. K. , I'm not killin..:; 
t hese ch'lps , they uill die of their OM:l in ;>rison - but by 1980 'tve ca.ne 
out free - the country had •••• 

What day and montll •••• 

July lst ,, 1968. 

And ho1v many 1vere you sentenced tog-ether? 

.ie eventually became - ,.rell , t here 11•ere just about - l'lell, man , I don '" 
kno\v the numbers now· - and in Yhami - there 'tvere 700 in Khami J not all 
of - not all of' us hn.d been sentenced to death - we - a t the ~ •••••••• ) 
there ,.,.ere a hundred a 1d I don ' t kno\1 ho,., many •••• 

But on Jllly lst., 1968 ho\v many \vere •••• 

Nine . 

You ,vere nine tocether - I t hink I remember the t rial from my readinc; . 

From? 

J u;t :from my readine; - I think I ' m remembering readi.ne it . 
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1fhat did T ,.,on,; ,;o say - vhere 1 c; somet hinG I jus,; f'orc-o ,; ,; o - maybe i v 
will COP1<' 1 naybe i ,; ,.,on 1 ,; come , hu,; I '\·nn ,; ,; o eo no,., . 

T 1 m ju~ ,; ..;oina ,; o ask you fin ally wha,; lnn.:?;uac-e did you speak in pri­
son? 

1Vhen? 

In Zimbab,ve - were you ,;he ,.,ho l e ,; ime in differen ,; prisons or w·ere y o u 
jus,; in Khami • ••• 

From Salisbury ,.,e ,.,ere ,; ran sf'er red ,; o Khami , so ,;ha,; ' s ,.,hy I ' m askin g 
you ,.,hen . 

T e ll me ,;hp dif:fe r en,; ,; ime - I don t ,; kno,., ho'v ,;o ask ,;he ques ,; ion , so 
you ' d bp ,;,; er ,; e ll me . 

Ja , O . K . - f'irs t I spolre Engl ish or Tdebe l e •••• 

You can spealc Tdebele? 

Zul u , Zulu , Zulu , le,; me pu,; i ,; ,;ha,; way. 

You jus,; speak Zulu and ,;hey answer in Nrlebe l e - i ,; ' s abou,; ,;he s ame? 

Yes , and ,;hose ,.,ho didn ' ,; un ders ,; and Ndebele , ,.,ho spoke Shon a , I spoke 
Bnglish ,; o , and ,;hen I l earned Shon a . 

Did you ,; alee l e s sons or you jus t l earned from being wit h a l l ,;be peopl e ? 

I learned :from beine ,.,i,;h ,;he people and I also read a l o ,; Shon a books , 
a ll ,;hat. 

1fhen you '"<"re in pri.son a n d you ,;houe;h,; you - you mus,; have f'o l lo,ved 
,;he t rials - you eo,; ne,vspaper s a ,; all or did you get ne,vspapers ? 

Hy God - yes , w·hen 1ve e;o t t here ,;hey ,.,<'re c-ivine prisoners - ,;hey were 
buyi ng nE",vspapers for prisoners , bu,; ,;hey no,;ed ( ?) ,;he peopl e ' vho had 
been ,;here be for<" ,;hen no,; iced t ha ,; af,;er w·e 1 d aone ,;here ,;here ,.,as a 
censorship - ne,vspoper!'l ,.,oul d be cen sored - 1vere censored , bu,; cha,; be ­
came ,.,orse no,., aft er , .. e , .. ere t here , t hey ,.,ere censored but - and t hen 
,;bey - ,;hey ,.,oul d s t op .for a - for a mon,;h or t 'vo , and ,;hen on e day 
bring a ,;a t,; ered paper , nn d ,;hen even ,; ually ,;hey s,; opped alt oget her. 

Did you ever lmow· of t he o ,;her ,; ria ls t ha,; , .. ere eoing on or did you 
jus,; hear by 1vord of' mouth ? 

1fe h e ard of' t hem - ,.,e ''~ould read ,bout t hem - some t ime , .. e ,.,ould come 
across ,;hem and , .. e did !'!mue - do a l o t of smncc-linc, bu,; ,;hen een erally 
t hey ,.,ere brourrht here t o U!" •••• 

The reason I ' m askin.::; 'vos did you ever 'kno, .. of any t rials of freedom 
fieht ers of any par,;y t ha t invo l ved anyone besides Africans - any Col­
oureds , Indians or uhi t es i n Zimbabwe ? 

N 0 , Coloureds , Indians or w·hi ,;es • • •• 

There 'vas Jolm Conradi<' ? 

Ye8 , I 'vas looki.nc; for ,;hat n ame - I remember ,;hat one , yes - he was 
sent enced t o •• • • 

12 . 

1 2 year~ ? 
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Which he served in full (?) 

Yes, nnd •••• 

Dut there ' s no o t her '~hi t e (?) ( ••••• ) 

There is a Coloured man - his name -his naMe or his name is George •••• 

Was he in prison 'dth you? 

He - well, no,., in - but of' late he was - ,.,..hn't sen't ence did he e-e 't -
ei 'ther six years or nine years, I don 't remember exae'tly ,.,..ha1.. i t: was. 

lias he 'tvit:h you people? 

Yes , he lvas ,.,ith us in Khami . 

Did he ee t along O. K . - 'vas 'there any problem :for him t hat he ,,ras 'the 
only only non-Af'rican of' the polit icals? 

'N' o , I don 1 t t ltinl<: he had - ,.,ell •••• 

I ' m just ,.,onderinc; in Sou.th Af'rica you have so many - you have Dram 
Fischers - there're not :nnny but t hcre ' re enoue;11 tl1at I can name 15 , 
and you can many more , ~ut in Zimbabw·e I can ' t nal"J.e anyone besides 
John ronradje and( •• •••••••••••• ) an Indian ..;uy , hut thcre ' renot t hat 
many- I ' m sure therc ' re a :few more , but i't ' ~ just much , much , much 
less than South Af'ricn. , partly because it ' s a tiny po:[)Ul'ltion , but I ' m 
just wonrlering did those people you w·ere l'lith , the Zimbabt'leans , did 
they have a non - racial view of' the struc;cle , did tJ1ey think their s'tr­
uc;~;le ,.,as A.frican f'or the Af'ricans , or dic1 they think it ,,·as all blacks 
or did th~'>y think l'lhitcs could be involved , or lid they - did it ever 
come up - did they over c:ay t o you : Gosl , the South Af'rican q t rugc;le 
is stran~;e , you' ve ~ot this Slovo runninc; the n:rmy and you ' ve got :fam­
ous ,.;hitcs involved and •••• 

No , Slovo l-J''1Sn 1 t rurtnine; t he army nt the time - at our tjme he ,.,as -
1-Je lvas just there - he lvn.s he lvaq ••• • 

Jed Dolbf'rg (?) uho 'tvas in t-IK- you had very 1 i0h level people - it 
didn 't mn.tter ,.hC1t rnce yon were you could reach hicher levels - did 
t hat ever come up- maybe it didn ' t come up , in lvhich case I won 't •••• 

Mo , it - it - i t ,.,ould come up in the scnqe tha.t they 't'lere f'ieh"ting :for 
a black covernmen't, I can put i 't thnt lvay - they '~ere :fighting :for a 
black government , unl.i.1~e us , who -.re simply .('icrhtincr :for n. non- racial 
democracy in Sout1 1 A~rica - yes , it did come out - it 't'lasn ' t so much of' 
a thin:; really, perhnps because there l\•eren ' t many ,.,'hi tc>s in any case -
't'lell , there 'tvere no ,.,hi tes in Khami, 'for one thine- , and t his George I ' m 
t elling you about only came t o prison in 1978, so no , i t didn 't come up 
really as such - but then they w·ere :fightinG :for a black eovernment. 

Just t lvo last questions - do you t hink it made you more o:f an in t er­
nat ionali!'lt to h'tve f'ouc;ht lvi'th people :from another country and been in 
their prison t o:;ethcr l'li.th them- do you 'thin}:: thn.t you ' re a national­
ist , do you think yon 1 re an int ernntionn.list - whirl-J are you? 

Internationc:~li~t - I cion ' t lrnow· no1'1 - that one is di:f:ficul t t o - you 
see, I ' m internationalist - I don 't underctnnd - I don ' t actually think 
I - in what context? 

Just sayinc; you clearly :fought tocrether :for 'the libera'tion o:f Sou'thern 
A:frica , you didn ' t- you- ;.;ould you ever soy to someone: Look, no,., 
that it ' !" .!:"JOssible ,.,hen - 1'lhen it ' s possible co to South A.fricR , you­
they ' ll ( ?) he concentra'ted on Sou'th Af'rica only - do you :Jelieve in 
'trnnscc>n lin[; borders and do you believe in 'the concep't o-r in'ternation­
alism and did it natter. 
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Has it a :factor( •••••• • •••••••• •• ••• he ' s couc(1in.:;) pe-opJf' of' ano t her 
na-cionali -cy , e-chnicnlly and by 'their border of -cheir coun-cry? 

I ' m no -c in1:; ernat ionalis t in the senf!e o"" involvine t he l'lhole w·ild 
l'lidP l'arld , I- I 1 '11 not in"t; ernationali.s "t; in -cha-c sense - I can .&\ie;h1:; 
in Zanbia, T. can .ficht i.n Zi nbab,ve , can f'ic;ht in Ane;olo , can f'icht in 
vamibia, T mean I con :fieh-c in Sout hern A:fricn - I don ' ~ believe I 
could :fiGh't say , nor'th of Sahara , I mean let me pn-c i 't -cha 1:; lvay , and 
I don 't believe I can f'iGh't ou1:; side .'\fricn - T con ' 't co - I lrould never 
e;o 'C o Amer; ca and :fi{"'h't like - l ike ,.·e h"'Vf> hnd - lve have seen Wil l ian -
'\filliam :loy - 1filliam Pomeroy of' America lvho l·-e-n -c 1:; 0 f'ich "t; in -che Phil­
ippines , like you have seen Wil.frid Durche"t;t-, unl e:::'3 of course - lvell , 
ac: - as a journalis 't I can def'ini't ely eo t hc.,...e , yes , but jus't as a 
j ournalis 't, no t 't O 'fic;ht •••• 

Like Che Guevara . 

And like yon have seen Che Guevara caine 'to :fi.,sh 't in - Che Guev a r a 
:foughc in eleven coun'tries in - in - in La 't in America - I - I don t 't 
t hink I can ever do th~t. 

Do you 'think i 't 1 S lvrong or is i 't. ••• 

ro , no , no , no 't a 1:; a l l - no~ a 't all , it' ~ no t lvron c - i t 's no 't lvron g ­
i t 1 s de:fini t ely no 't lvrong , <~nd 'they believe and 'they ore ane;ry enough 
't o be ab]e 'to do i 't - T 1 m no 't 'tha't ane;ry - I ' m anGry for Sou'th Africa , 
ye~ , de:fin; t ely I ' m - I ' m angry :for Sou'thern \:frica, bu't I lrould wan1:; 
t o con - t o con:finP myself "t; O Sou'thern A:frico - once '"e are 'through 
wi'th 'that, concen'tra 't e on 1:;he busines9 of reconst ruc 't ion - 1:;ha't I c an 
do - bu't T am no 't a racis 't and I am no 't - I - I ' m no 't 1:;ribalis "C and 
I ' m regional - I ' m recionalis -c ic in t he sense -cha-c I have said t o you 
I can :fi.:;h-c in sou'th of' 'the Sqbara . 

"t-.Tow le t me soy somC' "C hinc; in rel a t ion t o 'tha-c - '"e lven't -c o :fieht 'there 
:for a number o:f reasons - t he poli "C ica l r<>ason 'tha t i 'C lve~s j us "C opp­
ression , and -chose lvere our bro-chers , 'C o pu't it s implis -c ically again -
lve w·en't t. O :fie;ht -c l}erc because ,,,e had no :friendly bordC'r"" a t -che 't ime -
-chere lvas a bcl'C of rPac-c ion , of - -chore lvas that belt of re t roc;ression­
"'l.lozambique , Rhodesia , you see - t here was n very biG buf.fer - lve had no 
:friendly border - lvha-c I mean by a f'riendly border - nolv lve have a 
:friendly border Zimbaht-re :i ~ a :free coLmt ry - you cot my point - '"e h1vc 
o :friendly - w·e have "friendly neie;hbours - no,.; '"e have .Iozambique , i t' s 
a :friendly neic;hbour - '"e can be in ., f'i t u1 t :i on uherc lve C'Ul - '"e can -
'"e - 've - w<> can jump across "Che border ancl f'ic;ht and - and jump across 
t he border, t aJ~e our lvoundPd or t ake respit e or anyt hinc , becouse t h<"rC' 
is a :friendly bord -I ' m no -c sayinc; "Cha t happens - i t 1 s no t happenine; , 
but "Chen "Chat - 'that is a - '1 - a possibilit y no,.;, w·hich ,.;as no t poss ­
ible a t 1:;~a t "Cime . 

We '\ven t t o f'ieht because t he boers lv<>rc t here from 1966 and t hey lvere 
eaininc; mn; i - euerill a experience - we w·ercn ' -c gain:i.ne any experience -
lve lven t to f'ieht "Chere because t he cotmt ry - -chose lvere our brot hers 
and t hey h"'~d - t hC'y uere oppressed - as oppressed as lve lvere - t hey arc 
:free nolv - lihey arc no t :free - if ,.,e ,.,ere to be :free t omorrow and t hey 
were no li free , 've '"o uld be :free buli we l'lOUld noli be free - do you geli 
my point - lvhat I ' m saying is lihat no counliry lvill be :free in Africa 
un t il Soulih Africa is :free - a t t he momenli '&hey are des 'ti abilised - lihcy 
ar( subject ed t o dos t abilisation , ac t ivit ies by Sout h Africa , because 
lihey have t o rely on Sout h Africa - ZirbablvO and Zambia and landl o c ked 
count ries - they have t o carry t heir t hings , import s and export s t hroueh 
South Africa - many of' t heir businesses are still Olmed by int eres t s in 
Sout h Afric-, - thero!'ore t hey can nf'ver be f'ree unli :i 1 Sout h Africa is 
ac t ually fro<' . 
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So even i:f i t had been Sout h Africa that 1-ras f'ree and t hey were not 
:free , t hat 1vonld have mean t that we , ,•ould no t be :free if t hey were not 
free - ,.,c - '\•e c,-,n ' t be "'-ree '"it h our nei..;hbours not beinG' f'rec •••• 
milit ary reasonc: - those arc t he politicnl reasons behind it , and t he 
mili t .,ry rea~ons thP~t , f'or instance , ro h,d to also cain experience in 
1-:ar , nnd t he bocrs ,.•ere there in any case . 

• ••• in pric:on? 

H'e '"ere 15 in prison - t'vo died t here ••••••••••• 

END OF lNTERVIE1¥. 


